
Please contact Paul Mountford, Executive Democratic Services Officer
Tel:  01270 686472
E-Mail: paul.mountford@cheshireeast.gov.uk 
 

Constitution Committee
Agenda

Date: Monday, 15th July, 2019
Time: 2.00 pm
Venue: Committee Suite 1, 2 & 3, Westfields, Middlewich Road, 

Sandbach CW11 1HZ

The agenda is divided into 2 parts. Part 1 is taken in the presence of the public and press. Part 
2 items will be considered in the absence of the public and press for the reasons indicated on 
the agenda and in the report.

It should be noted that Part 1 items of Cheshire East Council decision-making meetings are 
audio recorded and the recordings are uploaded to the Council’s website.

PART 1 – MATTERS TO BE CONSIDERED WITH THE PUBLIC AND PRESS PRESENT

1. Apologies for Absence  

2. Declarations of Interest  

To provide an opportunity for Members and Officers to declare any disclosable 
pecuniary and non-pecuniary interests in any item on the agenda.

3. Public Speaking Time/Open Session  

In accordance with paragraph 2.32 of the Committee Procedure Rules, a period of 10 
minutes is allocated for members of the public to address the meeting on any matter 
relevant to the work of the Committee.  Individual members of the public may speak 
for up to 5 minutes but the Chairman or person presiding will decide how the period of 
time allocated for public speaking will be apportioned where there are a number of 
speakers. Members of the public are not required to give notice to use this facility. 
However, as a matter of courtesy, a period of 24 hours’ notice is encouraged.

Members of the public wishing to ask a question at the meeting should provide at 
least three clear working days’ notice in writing and should include the question with 
that notice. This will enable an informed answer to be given.

mailto:paul.mountford@cheshireeast.gov.uk


4. Member Speaking  

To provide an opportunity for any member to speak in relation to any aspect of the 
constitution.

5. Minutes of Previous meeting  (Pages 3 - 8)

To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 22nd November 2018.

6. The Council's Governance Arrangements  (Pages 9 - 18)

To consider a report on proposed changes to the Council’s governance arrangements 
in response to a notice of motion submitted to Council on 22nd May 2019.

7. Health and Wellbeing Board - Proposed Revisions to the Terms of Reference  
(Pages 19 - 30)

To consider a report on proposed changes to the terms of reference of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board.

8. Appointments to Outside Organisations 2019-2023  (Pages 31 - 38)

To consider a report on appointments to category 2 outside organisations for 2019-
2023.

9. Notice of Motion - Parental Leave Policy for Councillors  (Pages 39 - 46)

To consider a report in response to a notice of motion submitted to Council on 21st 
February 2019 regarding a parental leave policy for councillors.

10. Amendments to the Constitution - Changes to the Senior Management 
Structure  (Pages 47 - 50)

To report amendments to the constitution by the Monitoring Officer under delegated 
powers to reflect recent changes to the senior management structure.

11. Amendment to the Constitution - Investigation and Disciplinary Committee 
Terms of Reference  (Pages 51 - 84)

To consider a report on proposed amendments to the constitution to include revised 
terms of reference for the Investigation and Disciplinary Committee, changes to the 
Employment Procedure Rules and a new IDC Handbook.

THERE ARE NO PART 2 ITEMS



CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL

Minutes of a meeting of the Constitution Committee
held on Thursday, 22nd November, 2018 at Committee Suite 1,2 & 3, 

Westfields, Middlewich Road, Sandbach CW11 1HZ

PRESENT

Councillor A Martin (Chairman)
Councillor P Groves (Vice-Chairman)

Councillors J Bratherton, M Deakin, L Durham, J P Findlow (for Cllr Beanland) 
G Hayes, J Nicholas, J Rhodes, B Walmsley, G Williams and J Wray (for Cllr 
Baxendale)

Officers
Dan Dickinson, Acting Director of Legal Services
Brian Reed, Head of Democratic Services and Governance
Paul Mountford, Executive Democratic Services Officer

Apologies

Councillors D Bailey, G Baxendale and M Beanland

19 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest.

20 PUBLIC SPEAKING TIME/OPEN SESSION 

There were no members of the public wishing to speak.

21 MEMBER SPEAKING 

There were no visiting members wishing to speak.

22 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 

RESOLVED

That the minutes of the meeting held on 20th September 2018 be approved 
as a correct record.

23 COMMUNITY GOVERNANCE REVIEW TERMS OF REFERENCE 

The Committee considered a report on the proposed terms of reference for 
the Community Governance Review, and the recommendations of the 
Community Governance Review Sub-Committee in relation thereto.



The Committee at its meeting on 20th September 2018 had resolved that:a 
Borough-wide review of the governance arrangements of all of the 
Borough’s town and parish councils be undertaken, commencing as soon 
as reasonably practicable after the 2019 all-out elections, and concluding 
well in advance of the May 2023 elections. The Committee had appointed 
a sub-committee to conduct the review and make appropriate 
recommendations to the Committee for decision. An officer working group 
had also been appointed to work with the Sub-Committee. 

Prior to considering the report, members received a presentation by Dr 
Melvin Humphreys, a trainer and specialist in community governance 
reviews at the Association of Electoral Administrators. Dr Humphreys 
outlined the legislative framework for the review, the key stages involved 
and the four principal duties of the Council which were as follows:

1. to adopt and publish terms of reference;
2. to consult parish councils and other relevant bodies and invite 

representations by such bodies and from electors;
3. to ensure an open and transparent decision-making process, with 

clear reasons given for each decision; and
4. to publish the outcome of the review in the form of a Reorganisation 

of Community Governance Order.

At the conclusion of the presentation, Dr Humphreys answered members’ 
questions, following which the Chairman thanked him for his presentation.

The Committee then considered the report which set out the terms of 
reference for the review. 

The review would relate to the whole of the Borough, and would consider 
town and parish council governance arrangements. This would include 
changes to parish areas and parish electoral arrangements such as 
alterations to parish boundaries; the merging, creation and abolition of 
parishes; the naming of parishes; the numbers of parish councillors; 
whether to divide a parish into wards; and the grouping of parishes under 
common councils. The review could consider any Borough ward 
boundaries where the parish and Borough ward boundaries were no 
longer coterminous following a parish boundary change. The review would 
also deal with consequential matters such as the transfer of parish council 
staff, property and assets, and the setting of precepts for any new parish 
councils that may be formed.

A key part of the review would be public consultation which would take 
place over a period of several months and would involve local electors, 
parish councils, and other bodies with an interest in the review such as 
local businesses and public and voluntary organisations.

In carrying out the review, the Council would be bound by the 
requirements of the relevant legislation and the terms of reference for the 
review as adopted by the Council. The Review would be completed when 



the Council had adopted a Reorganisation of Community Governance 
Order.  

The first stage of the review was the adoption of the terms of reference. 
This would be followed by a period in which officers would gather the 
necessary information to help shape the review, taking into account any 
issues raised by parish councils and others prior to the formal consultation 
process. A set of proposals and a consultation plan would then be 
prepared for members’ consideration. 

The Community Governance Review Sub-Committee, at its meeting on 8th 
November 2018, had noted and endorsed the contents of the report for 
consideration by the Constitution Committee. The Sub-Committee had 
agreed that the report in itself constituted the terms of reference of the 
Community Governance Review, and had endorsed its publication as 
being the commencement of the Review.

RESOLVED

That the Committee

1. notes and endorses the contents of the report; and

2. agrees that the report in itself constitutes the terms of reference of the 
Community Governance Review, and endorses its publication as being 
the commencement of the Community Governance Review.

24 CALENDAR OF MEETINGS FOR 2019-20 

The Committee considered a report on the draft Calendar of Meetings for 
Cheshire East Council for 2019-20. The draft Calendar was appended to 
the report.

The proposed scheduling of meetings for 2019-20 followed the pattern 
adopted in previous years.  

Since the agenda had been published, Cheshire West and Chester had 
notified a change of date for the Shared Services Joint Committee as 
follows:

31st May 2019 moved to 28th June 2019

The following comments on the draft calendar had been received from 
consultees:

 The Chairman of the Strategic Planning Board had suggested 
that it would be beneficial for meetings of the Board to 
commence at 10.00 am rather than 10.30 am to bring the Board 
into line with the other two planning committees.



 Councillor A Stott had expressed concern that Council meetings 
were held on a Thursday in Sandbach when there were 
difficulties with parking due to it being Market Day; she proposed 
that consideration be given to changing the day of the week for 
full Council.

It was suggested that the question of an alternative day for Council 
meetings could be considered by the new Council following the elections 
in May 2019; in the meantime, the officers would consider what measures 
could be put in place now to assist members with mobility problems 
attending Council meetings.

RESOLVED

That Council be recommended to approve 

1. the draft Calendar of Meetings for Cheshire East Council for 2019-20 
as appended to the report subject to the following amendments:

 
(a) the change of date for the Shared Services Joint Committee 

from 31st May 2019 to 28th June 2019; 

(b) meetings of the Strategic Planning Board to commence at 10.00 
am; 

2. that the question of an alternative day for Council meetings be 
considered by the new Council following the Borough Council elections 
in May 2019.

25 AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE TERMS OF REFERENCE 

The Committee considered revised terms of reference for the Audit and 
Governance Committee.

The Audit and Governance Committee, at its meeting on 27th September 
2018, had approved the revised terms of reference set out in Appendix A 
to the report. The revised terms of reference reflected updated best 
practice guidance from CIPFA (Practical Guidance for Audit Committees). 

Since the meeting of the Audit and Governance Committee, the following 
provision from the original terms of reference, which had been excluded 
from the revised terms of reference, had now, with the agreement of the 
Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Committee, been included in the 
revised terms of reference:

“To approve and monitor Council policies relating to 
whistleblowing and anti-fraud and corruption.”

Appendix A to the report to the Constitution Committee had included this 
amendment.



RESOLVED

That Council be recommended to approve that the constitution be 
amended to include the revised terms of reference for the Audit and 
Governance Committee as set out in Appendix A to the report.

26 PROPOSED CHANGES TO THE CONSTITUTION - CHIEF OFFICER 
DELEGATIONS 

The Committee considered a report which proposed amendments to three 
paragraphs of the constitution relating to officer powers. The amendments 
were required in order to improve clarity and operational efficiency in 
respect of regulatory enforcement functions. The amendments were 
considered in detail in the report and the revised provisions were set out in 
an Appendix.

The Monitoring Officer was of the view that the proposed changes ranked 
as changes which provided clarity and corrected inconsistencies in 
drafting. They had no impact on the substantive effect of the paragraphs in 
question as originally drafted and could therefore be made in consultation 
with the Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Committee in accordance 
with Chapter 2, Part 6, paragraph 67 of the constitution.

RESOLVED

That the Committee notes the intention of the Monitoring Officer to amend 
paragraphs 37, 41 and 42 of the delegations to Chief Officers section of 
the Constitution as set out in the Appendix to the report. 

The meeting commenced at 2.00 pm and concluded at 3.12 pm

Councillor A Martin (Chairman)





OFFICIAL

 

Constitution Committee 

Date of Meeting:  15 July 2019
Report Title: The Council’s Governance Arrangements
Senior Officer: Brian Reed - Head of Democratic Services and Governance

1. Report Summary

1.1. On 22 May 2019, the following notice of motion was submitted to Full 
Council in relation to the Council’s governance arrangements: 

‘This Council is committed to implementing a change in decision-
making governance arrangements, comprising the cessation of the 
current Leader and Cabinet model of governance, and the 
implementation of a full Committee model of governance; this to be 
developed during 2019/20 with a view to the new arrangements taking 
effect from the beginning of the 2020/21 Municipal Year, subject to a 
legally and constitutionally robust process, led by the Council's 
Constitution Committee, and agreed by Council’.

1.2 Councillor J Nicholas proposed the notice of motion, which was seconded 
by Councillor J Bratherton, this was agreed by Council.

1.3 This report provides an overview of the key issues, and asks the 
Committee to establish a working group to develop the proposals, as 
envisaged in the notice of motion.

2. Recommendation

2.1 That the Constitution Committee establish a working group of 8 Members, 
on a politically proportionate basis (3:2:2:1), to develop detailed proposals 
as envisaged in the notice of motion, with those terms of reference as set 
out in paragraph 3.9 of this report. 

2.2 That the working group produce recommendations for the Constitution 
Committee to consider.

2.3 That the working group be known as the ‘Governance Working Group’. 



OFFICIAL

3. Background

3.1 The Local Government Act 2000 fundamentally changed the way local 
authorities made decisions by introducing a number of options as to how 
they could operate. The aim of this was to improve accountability, 
transparency and efficiency. Prior to that, all decisions were taken through 
Council Committees, which had powers delegated to them from Council. 
Committees were able to establish sub-committees and were required to be 
politically proportionate. 

3.2 The Localism Act 2011 inserted amendments into the Local Government 
Act 2000 setting out a clear process for local authorities in England to 
change their governance arrangements. Under current legislation, the 
following types of decision-making structures are available:

o Leader and Cabinet – this is the system operated by most local 
authorities, and this Council. The Leader appoints a Cabinet of at least 
2 and up to 9 Councillors. These Councils must have Overview and 
Scrutiny arrangements. 

o Directly Elected Mayor and Cabinet – this system allows a directly 
elected executive mayor with wide decision-making powers. The Mayor 
appoints a Cabinet made up of other Councillors, who may have 
decision making powers. These Councils must have Overview and 
Scrutiny arrangements.

o Committee system – in this arrangement, most decision are made in 
committees, which are made up of a mix of Councillors from across all 
political groups. Council appoints Members to the committees on a 
politically proportionate basis, and sets their terms of reference. These 
arrangements may also include overview and scrutiny, but there is no 
requirement for this. If the local authority determined not to have 
overview and scrutiny committees, it would still need to make 
appropriate arrangements for the scrutiny of health, crime and disorder 
and flood risk management, either by full Council or one of its 
Committees [under S244 of the National Health, Service Act 2006; 
under S19 of the Police & Justice Act 2006; and under Section,9FH of 
the Local Government Act 2000 (as amended by Schedule 2 of the 
Localism Act 2011)]. Under the committee system, a local authority is 
able to decide how its functions are delivered.  It is possible for full 
Council to make all decisions; or to delegate decisions to a committee, 
sub-committee or officers. However, some functions must still be 
delivered by full Council (e.g. the Budget and Policy Framework).

o Alternative forms of governance – The Secretary of State has the 
power to approve governance arrangements which do not fall within 
the three categories highlighted above. Any such alternative forms of 
governance would be proposed for approval by the local authority in 



OFFICIAL

question who must demonstrate that the proposed arrangements would 
be an improvement on the current arrangements; that they would 
ensure efficient, transparent and accountable decision making; and 
that they would be appropriate for all local authorities, or a particular 
type of local authority. Officers are not aware of any Authority which 
has made such a request.

The Process for Change

3.3 In order for a local authority to change its governance arrangements, it must 
first pass a resolution of full Council confirming the details of the new 
governance arrangements, and the date upon which they will be introduced. 

3.4 Moving to a new system can only take place at an Annual Meeting of 
Council in any particular year; the earliest date that change in governance 
arrangements could take effect would be from 13 May 2020. A 
considerable amount of detailed and careful work would have to be 
undertaken prior to this.

3.5 As soon as practicable after Council passes the resolution, the Council 
must publish in one or more newspapers circulating in the area a notice 
which advertises the decision to change its governance arrangements and 
the date upon which the change will take effect, this will be from Annual 
Council on 13 May 2020.

3.6 There is no requirement for specific consultation under the Localism Act 
2011 or to consider any responses that are received in response to the 
public notice given.

3.7 Following a change in governance arrangements, no further change would 
be permitted within five years. It is important, therefore, that any change is 
very carefully considered and planned.

3.8 It is proposed that a working group be established to develop detailed 
proposals as envisaged in the notice of motion, which would be submitted 
to the Constitution Committee for consideration. The final recommendations 
of the Constitution Committee would then be considered by Council.

3.9 The working group would be required to:

 Undertake all work necessary to respond to the notice of motion. 
 Consider and learn from other Councils who have implemented a 

committee system.



OFFICIAL

 Establish a detailed timeline to ensure the Council is in a position to 
make a final determination upon those matters approved by full 
Council in the recent notice of motion.

 Develop a proposed form of governance for consideration by the 
Constitution Committee , giving consideration to:

o any financial and constitutional changes that would be 
required;

o the implications, for the timeliness of decision-making, of 
available alternative models of governance, and associated 
proposals.  

 Report back to the Constitution Committee at key stages, as and 
when required. This may involve arranging additional meetings of 
the Constitution Committee.

The Committee System

3.10 This is an option available under the Local Government Act 2000, as 
amended by the Localism Act 2011 and is what the notice of motion 
agreed by Council on 22 May 2019 envisages. Examples of authorities 
that have changed governance arrangements are attached at appendix 
A

3.11 In this arrangement, most decisions are made in committees, which are 
made up of a mix of Councillors from all political parties. Council 
appoints members to the committees on a politically proportionate basis, 
and sets their terms of reference and can either reserve the decision 
making to itself, which would require recommendations from the 
Committee to Council or can delegate decision making to the Committee 
but not individual Chairman. 

3.12 Councils operating a committee system may also have limited overview 
and scrutiny arrangements, but are not required to. If the Council 
determines not to have Overview and Scrutiny Committees, it would still 
need to make arrangements for the scrutiny of health and flood risk 
management, either by full Council or one of its Committees.

Constitution 

3.13 The outline principles for a new system would have to be considered and 
agreed and, alongside that process, a new constitution would need to be 
developed. An appropriate timeline would need to be established for 
developing a new constitution considering the adoption of the new 
governance arrangements. 



OFFICIAL

3.14 The constitution would need to set out the format of the new 
arrangements and, if moving to a committee system, appropriate 
delegations and the terms of reference of committees drawn up, together 
with other necessary changes for recommendation to Council. The 
actions set out above in terms of statutory process would also need to 
be undertaken.

Staffing

3.15 A return to the committee system may require more support from 
management and service-area officers, as there could be more decision-
making committees, a larger number of Members making those 
decisions, and an increase in member briefings and pre-meetings.

3.16 The proposals put forward would need to include a review of staffing 
resources to ensure any new form of governance and political 
administration was appropriately resourced in order to ensure proper 
support for potential additional meetings, briefings and pre-meetings. An 
increase in member briefings and pre-meetings could also have an 
impact on the services in question. 

Member allowances

3.17 Operating under a different form of governance and decision making 
system would necessitate a review by the Independent Remuneration 
Panel (IRP) of the proposed new arrangements together with and the 
roles of the Chairs and Vice Chairs. Decision making would be 
undertaken by the Committee as a corporate entity. The IRP would 
therefore be required to make recommendations regarding members’ 
allowances and this would need to be factored into the overall project 
plan to ensure that it enabled the implementation of the new 
arrangements by May 2020.  

4. Implications of the Recommendations

4.1. Legal Implications

4.1.1 The statutory background which applies to a proposal to change a 
local authority’s governance arrangements is set out within the body 
of the report.

4.1.2 A change in governance arrangements would have significant legal 
implications. The constitution would need to set out the format of the 
new arrangements and, if moving to a committee system, 
appropriate delegations and the terms of reference of committees 
drawn up, together with other necessary changes for 
recommendation to Council. 



OFFICIAL

4.1.3 The full legal implications will be explored as part of the proposed 
working group’s activities. 

 
4.2. Finance Implications

4.2.1 There are no identified financial implications from setting up a 
working group. The financial implications of any recommendations or 
requirements of the group will be analysed as necessary and 
included in any further reporting.

4.3. Equality Implications

4.3.1. The Council’s governance arrangements must enable all groups to 
engage in the decision making process. No equality implications are 
identified at this stage.

4.4. Human Resources Implications

4.4.1. There are no quantified human resource implications at this stage. 
The proposed working group would require a higher degree of officer 
support, given the nature and scale of a project. The impact arising 
from the implementation of any proposals for change would have to 
be properly assessed by the working group.

4.5. Risk Management Implications

4.5.1. There are no risk management implications at this stage, beyond 
ensuring that any working group is properly resourced to ensure any 
proposals arrived at are comprehensive and sound.

4.6. Rural Communities Implications

4.6.1. There are no direct implications for rural communities.

4.7. Implications for Children, Young People and Cared for Children

4.7.1. There are no direct implications for children, young people and cared 
for children.



OFFICIAL

4.8. Public Health Implications

4.8.1. There are no direct implications for public health arising from this 
particular report.

4.9     Climate Change Implications

    4.9.1.    None

5. Ward Members Affected

5.1. All wards are affected.

6. Access to Information

6.1 CfPS – Rethinking Government 
https://www.cfps.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/Rethinking-Governance.pdf

CfPS – Musical Chairs
http://www.cfps.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/Musical-Chairs.pdf

LGiU – changing to a Committee system in a new era 
https://www.lgiu.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/12/Changing-to-a-
committee-system-in-a-new-era.pdf

Localism Act 2011
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/pdfs/ukpga_20110020_en.pdf

7. Contact Information

7.1. Any questions relating to this report should be directed to the following 
officer:

Name: Brian Reed
Job Title: Head of Democratic Services and Governance 
Email: brian.reed@cheshireeast.gov.uk

https://www.cfps.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/Rethinking-Governance.pdf
http://www.cfps.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/Musical-Chairs.pdf
https://www.lgiu.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/12/Changing-to-a-committee-system-in-a-new-era.pdf
https://www.lgiu.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/12/Changing-to-a-committee-system-in-a-new-era.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/pdfs/ukpga_20110020_en.pdf




Appendix A

OFFICIAL

Councils that have changed Governance Arrangements

1.1 South Gloucestershire Council 

1.1.1 South Gloucestershire Council is a unitary authority with a population of 
279,000 and has 70 Councillors. It adopted the Committee System in March 
2013 and then in May 2017 resolved to move back to the Leader and Cabinet 
Model. This decision appears to have been made on the grounds that 
executive arrangements better reflected the political reality of a majority council 
and that the operation of executive arrangements provided an opportunity for 
more streamlined and efficient decision making.

1.2 Brighton and Hove Council

1.2.1 Brighton and Hove Council is a unitary authority with a population of 288,200 
and 54 Councillors. It adopted a Committee System in 2012 comprising of 6 
policy committees and separate Overview and Scrutiny arrangements. The 
committees meet on an 8 weekly cycle. 

1.2.2 If there is a matter of urgency the constitution provides for urgency sub 
committees to be held at short notice.

1.3 Reading Borough Council

1.3.1 Reading Borough Council is a unitary authority with a population of 163,100 
and 46 Councillors. It adopted the Committee System in 2013 comprising of 
four standing committees, 3 of which meet 3 times per year and the other which 
meets monthly.  The Council appointed Lead Councillors, who are the 
members of the majority group on the Policy Committee. 

1.3.2 The Council resolved not to appoint any separate overview and scrutiny 
committees. The statutory overview and scrutiny functions of the authority are 
dealt with by individual Committees. 

1.4 Nottinghamshire County Council

1.4.1 Nottinghamshire County Council has a population of 817,900 and 66 
Councillors. It adopted a Committee system in 2012 which comprises of 7 
Committees and a Health Scrutiny Committee meeting on a 6 weekly cycle.

1.5 Norfolk County Council 

1.5.1 Norfolk County Council has a population of 859,400 and 84 Councillors.  It 
adopted a Committee system in 2014 which comprises of 7 Committees and 
a Health Scrutiny Committee which meet around 6 times per year. Norfolk 
County Council will be moving back to a Leader and Cabinet Model in May 
2019.



Appendix A

OFFICIAL

1.6 Sutton Council

1.6.1 London Borough of Sutton Council has a population of 200,100 and 54 
Councillors. It adopted a committee system in May 2012 which comprises of 4 
Committees and a scrutiny committee which meet every 6 to 8 weeks. 



OFFICIAL

Constitution Committee 

Date of Meeting:  15 July 2019

Report Title: Health and Wellbeing Board – Proposed Revisions to the Terms 
of Reference

Portfolio Holder: Cllr Sam Corcoran, Leader 

Senior Officer: Mark Palethorpe Acting Executive Director of People

1. Report Summary

1.1. The Terms of Reference of the Cheshire East Health and Wellbeing Board 
are reviewed every two years. At the Annual General Meeting of the Board 
on 25th June 2019 a number of minor changes were proposed to take 
account of the reorganisation of the Cheshire Clinical Commissioning 
Groups that is ongoing. The proposed changes are brought to the 
Constitution Committee for consideration and if agreed, for forwarding on to 
Council. This is a  requirement that is set out in the Terms of Reference 
that form a part of the Council Constitution. 

2. Recommendations

2.1. That the changes proposed by the Health and Wellbeing Board (see 
Appendix One) to the Terms of Reference are considered by the 
Constitution Committee and if agreed are referred to the Council meeting 
on 18th July 2019.  

3. Reasons for Recommendations

3.1. To ensure that the Terms of Reference for the Cheshire East Health and 
Wellbeing Board remain up to date, fit for purpose and facilitate the Board 
operating effectively as a system leadership forum and delivering its 
statutory requirements. 



OFFICIAL

4. Other Options Considered

4.1. Not applicable.

5. Background

5.1. The Cheshire East Health and Wellbeing Board’s current Terms of 
Reference (ToR) were agreed in May 2017 following an extensive review. 
Paragraph 14.1 requires the Board to review its ToR at its Annual General 
Meeting (AGM) every two years. The AGM held on 25th June 2019 provided 
the first opportunity to review the ToR since they were adopted. Any 
proposed changes to the Terms of Reference agreed by the Board,  are 
required to be reviewed by the Constitution Committee and then forwarded 
to the next Council meeting for ratification as a change to the Constitution.

5.2. The Board made a number of suggested changes, mostly related to the 
proposed reorganisation of the Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Groups 
(CCGs) which is underway. If agreed this will see the merger of West 
Cheshire, Eastern Cheshire, South Cheshire and Vale Royal CCGs into a 
single Cheshire CCG. The Terms of Reference currently refer to Eastern 
and South Cheshire CCGs so the wording has been amended to be less 
specific and allow for different outcomes of the proposed merger to be 
accommodated. The proposed changes have been tracked in the attached 
Appendix One. 

6. Implications of the Recommendations

6.1. Legal Implications

6.1.1. The proposed changes to the wording of the Terms of Reference have 
been agreed by the Legal Department

6.2. Finance Implications

6.2.1. There are no specific financial implications in relation to this report.

6.3. Policy Implications

6.3.1. There are no direct Policy implications relating to this report, other than 
the need to ensure that the Board is able to function effectively to fulfil its 
roles and responsibilities.

6.4. Equality Implications

6.4.1. There are no Equality implications in relation to this report. 



OFFICIAL

6.5. Human Resources Implications

6.5.1. There are no human resource implications in relation to this report.

6.6. Risk Management Implications

6.6.1. There are no significant risk management implications in relation to this 
report.

6.7. Rural Communities Implications

6.7.1. There are no direct implications for rural communities.

6.8. Implications for Children & Young People/Cared for Children 

6.8.1. There are no direct implications for children and young people.

6.9. Public Health Implications

6.9.1. There are no direct implications for public health.

6.10. Climate Change Implications

6.10.1. The Health and Wellbeing Board is responsible for the publication of 
the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy – revised in 2018. This sets out 
priorities for improving the health and wellbeing of the population of Cheshire 
East including through encouraging more physical activity and healthy lifestyles.

7. Ward Members Affected

7.1. All 

8. Access to Information

8.1. The proposed changes to the Terms of reference are tracked in Appendix 
One. 

9. Contact Information

9.1. Any questions relating to this report should be directed to the following 
officer:

Name: Guy Kilminster

Job Title: Corporate Manager Health Improvement

Email: guy.kilminster@cheshireeast.gov.uk





As approved by Council 17th May 2017   
H&WB Proposed changes June 2019  

 OFFICIAL 
1 

Cheshire East Statutory Health and Wellbeing Board  
 

Terms of Reference as approved by Council 17th May 2017[KG1] 
 
1.  Context 
 

1.1  The full name of the Board shall be the Cheshire East Health and Wellbeing 
Board. (CEHWB) 

 
1.2 The CEHWB was established in April 2013.   
 
1.3 The Health and Social Care Act 2012 and subsequent regulations provide the 

statutory framework for Health and Wellbeing Boards (HWB).   
 
1.4 For the avoidance of doubt, except where specifically disapplied by these 

Terms of Reference, the Council Procedure Rules (as set out in its 
Constitution) will apply.  

   
2. Purpose 
 

• To work in partnership to make a positive difference to the health and 
wellbeing of the residents of Cheshire East through an evidence based 
focus on improved outcomes and reducing health inequalities. 

 
• To prepare and keep up to date the Joint Strategic Needs Assessments 

(JSNAs) and Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategies (JHWSs), which is a 
duty of local authorities and clinical commissioning groups (CCGs).  
 

• To lead integrated working between health and social care 
commissioners, including providing advice, assistance or other support 
to encourage arrangements under section 75 of the National Health 
Service Act 2006 (ie lead commissioning, pooled budgets and/or 
integrated provision) in connection with the provision of health and 
social care services.  
 

• To be a forum that enables member organisations of the Board to hold 
each other  to account for their responsibilities for improving the health 
of the population   

 

• To assist in fostering good working relationships between 
commissioners of health-related services and the CEHWB itself.  

 

• To  assist in fostering good working relationships  between 
commissioners of health-related services (such as housing and many 
other local government services) and commissioners of health and 
social care services 

 

 To undertake any other functions that may be delegated to it by the 
Council under section 196(2) of the Health and Social Care Act 2012.  

 



As approved by Council 17th May 2017   
H&WB Proposed changes June 2019  

 OFFICIAL 
2 

 
Such delegated functions need not be confined to public health and 
social care.  

 
• To provide advice assistance and support for the purpose of 

encouraging the making of arrangements under section 75 of the 
National Health Service Act 2006 in connection with the provision of 
such services. 

 
 
3.  Roles and Responsibilities 
 

3.1 To work with the Council and CCG(s) [KG2]effectively to ensure the delivery of 
the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy. 

 
3.2 To work within the CEHWB to build a collaborative partnership to key decision 

making that embeds health and wellbeing challenge, issue resolution and 
provides strategic system leadership. 

 
3.3 To participate in CEHWB discussions to reflect the views of their partner 

organisations, being sufficiently briefed to be able to make recommendations 
about future policy developments and service delivery. 

 
3.4 To champion the work of the CEHWB in their wider work and networks and in 

all individual community engagement activities. 
 

3.5 To ensure that there are communication mechanisms in place within partner 
organisations to enable information about the CEHWB’s priorities and 
recommendations to be effectively disseminated. 

 
3.6 To share any changes to strategy, policy, and the system consequences of 

such on budgets and service delivery within their own partner organisations 
with the CEHWB to consider the wider system implications.  

 
4.  Accountability 
 
4.1  The CEHWB carries no formal delegated authority from any of the individual 

statutory bodies. 
 
4.2  Core Members of the CEHWB have responsibility and accountability for their 

individual duties and their role on the CEHWB. 
 
4.3  The CEHWB will discharge its responsibilities by means of recommendations 

to the relevant partner organisations, which will act in accordance with their 
respective powers and duties. 

 
4.4  The Council’s Core Members will ensure that they keep Cabinet and wider 
 Council advised of the work of the CEHWB. 
 
4.5 The CEHWB may report and be accountable to Full Council and to both the 

relevant Governing Body(ies) of the NHS Clinical Commissioning Group(s) 



As approved by Council 17th May 2017   
H&WB Proposed changes June 2019  

 OFFICIAL 
3 

(CCG’s) Governing Bodies [KG3]by ensuring access to meeting minutes and 
presenting papers as required. 

 
4.6 The CEHWB will not exercise scrutiny duties around health or adult social 

care services directly. This will remain the role of the Cheshire East Health 
and Adult Social Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee and in respect of 
children’s health, the Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee. Decisions taken and work progressed by the CEHWB will be 
subject to scrutiny by the Health and Adult Social Care Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee.  

 
4.7 The CEHWB will provide information to the public through publications, local 

media, and wider public activities by publishing the minutes of its meetings on 
the Council’s website. The CEHWB is supported by an Engagement and 
Communications Network across HWB organisations to ensure this function 
can operate successfully. 

 
 
5.  Membership 
 
5.1  The Core membership of the CEHWB will comprise the following: 
  
Voting members: 

 Three councillors from Cheshire East Council  

 The Strategic Director of Adult Social Care and Health 

 The Director of Children’s Services 

 A local Healthwatch representative 

 Two representatives of NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG 

 Two representatives of NHS South Cheshire CCG 

 Up to four representatives from the relevant CCG(s)[KG4] 

 Independent NHS representative (nominated by the CCG(s)) 
 

Non-voting members 

 The Chief Executive of the Council  

 The Director of Public Health  

 A nominated representative of NHS England / NHS Improvement [KG5] 
 
The councillor membership of the CEHWB is nominated by the Leader of the 
Council.  The Leader can be a member of the CEHWB as one of the three 
councillors who are voting members. 

 
5.2 The Core Members will keep under review the Membership of the CEHWB 

and if appropriate will make recommendations to Council on any changes to 
the Core Membership. 

 
5.3 The above Core Members 1  through a majority vote have the authority to 

appoint individuals as Non Voting Associate Members of the CEHWB. 
(Committee Procedure Rule 20.1 refers). The length of their membership will 

                                                
1
 Regulation 5(1) removes this restriction in relation to health and wellbeing boards by disapplying section 

104(1) of the 1972 Act to enable the local authority directors specified in the 2012 Act to become members of 

health and wellbeing boards 



As approved by Council 17th May 2017   
H&WB Proposed changes June 2019  

 OFFICIAL 
4 

be for up to one year and will be subject to re-selection at the next Annual 
General Meeting “AGM” of the CEHWB. Associate Members will assist the 
CEHWB in achieving the priorities agreed within the Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy and may indeed be chairs of sub structure forums where 
they are not actual Core Members of the CEHWB. 

 
5.4 The above Core Members 2  through a majority vote have the authority to 

recommend to Council that individuals be appointed as Voting Associate 
Members of the CEHWB. The length of their membership will be for up to one 
year and will be subject to re-selection at the next Annual General Meeting 
“AGM” of the CEHWB. 

 
5.5  Each Core Member has the power to nominate a single named substitute.  If a 

Substitute Member be required, advance notice of not less than 2 working 
days should be given to the Council whenever practicable. The Substitute 
Members shall have the same powers and responsibilities as the Core 
Members. 

 
6.  Frequency of Meetings 
 

6.1  There will be no fewer than four public meetings per year (including an AGM), 
usually once every  three months as a formal CEHWB.  

 
6.2  Additional meetings of the CEHWB may be convened with agreement of the 

CEHWB’s Chairman. 
 
7.  Agenda and Notice of Meetings 
 

7.1  Any agenda items or reports to be tabled at the meeting should be submitted 
to the Council’s Democratic Services no later than seven working days in 
advance of the next meeting. Generally, no business will be conducted that is 
not on the agenda. 

 
 
7.2  Any voting member of the Board may approach the Chairman of the Board to 

deal with an item of business which the voting member believes is urgent and 
under the circumstances requires a decision of the Board. The Chairman’s 
ruling of whether the requested item is considered / tabled or not at the 
meeting will be recorded in the minutes of the meeting. 

 
 
7.3  In accordance with the Access to Information legislation, Democratic Services 

will circulate and publish the agenda and reports prior to the next meeting. 
Exempt or Confidential Information shall only be circulated to Core Members. 

 
8.  Annual General Meeting 
 

                                                
2
 Regulation 5(1) removes this restriction in relation to health and wellbeing boards by disapplying section 

104(1) of the 1972 Act to enable the local authority directors specified in the 2012 Act to become members of 

health and wellbeing boards 



As approved by Council 17th May 2017   
H&WB Proposed changes June 2019  

 OFFICIAL 
5 

8.1  The CEHWB shall elect the Chairman and Vice Chairman at each AGM, the 
appointment will be by majority vote of all Core voting Members [KG6]present at 
the meeting. 

 
8.2  The CEHWB will approve the representative nominations by the partner 

organisations as Core Members. 
 
9.  Quorum 
 
9.1  Any full meeting of the CEHWB shall be quorate if there is representation of 

any four three of the following statutory members:  – NHS Eastern Cheshire 
CCG, NHS South Cheshire CCG, the relevant NHS Cheshire CCG(s), Local 
Health Watch, a Councillor and an Officer of Cheshire East Council. 

 
9.2  Failure to achieve a quorum within  fifteen minutes of the scheduled start of 

the meeting, or should the meeting become inquorate after it has started, shall 
mean that the meeting will proceed as an informal meeting but that any 
decisions shall require appropriate ratification at the next quorate meeting.  

 
10.  Procedure at Meetings 
 
10.1  General meetings of the CEHWB are open to the public and in accordance 

with the Council’s Committee Procedure Rules will include a Public Question 
Time Session. Papers, agendas and minutes will be published on the 
Cheshire East Health and Wellbeing website. 

 
10.2 The Council’s Committee Procedure Rules will apply in respect of formal 

meetings subject to the following:- 
 
10.3 The CEHWB will also hold development/informal sessions throughout the year 

where all members are expected to attend and partake as the agenda 
suggests. 

 
10.4   Core Members are entitled to speak through the Chairman. Associate 

Members are entitled to speak at the invitation of the Chairman. 
 

10.5  With the agreement of the CEHWB, subgroups can be set up to consider 
distinct areas of work. The subgroup will be responsible for arranging the 
frequency and venue of their meetings. The CEHWB will approve the 
membership of the subgroups. 
 

10.6  Any subgroup recommendations will be made to the CEHWB who will 
consider them in accordance with these terms of reference and their relevance 
to the priorities within the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy and its delivery 
plan. 

 
10.7 Whenever possible decisions will be reached by consensus or failing that a 

simple majority vote by those members entitled to vote.  
 
11.  Expenses 
 



As approved by Council 17th May 2017   
H&WB Proposed changes June 2019  

 OFFICIAL 
6 

11.1  The partnership organisations are responsible for meeting the expenses of 
 their own representatives. 
 
11.2 A modest CEHWB budget will be agreed annually to support engagement and 
 communication and the business of the CEHWB. 
 
12.  Conflict of Interest 
 

12.1  In accordance with the Council’s Committee Procedure Rules, at the 
commencement of all meetings all CEHWB Members shall declare disclosable 
pecuniary or non-pecuniary interests and any conflicts of interest. 

 
12.2  In the case of non pecuniary matters Members may remain for all or part of 

the meeting, participate and vote at the meeting on the item in question. 
 
12.3   In the case of pecuniary matters Members must leave the meeting during  

consideration of that item. 
 
13.  Conduct of Core Members at Meetings 
 

13.1  CEHWB members will agree to adhere to the seven principles outlined in the 
CEHWB Code of Conduct when carrying out their duties as a CEHWB 
member [Appendix 1]. 

 
 
14.  Review 

 
14.1  The above terms of reference will be reviewed every two years at the CEHWB 

AGM. 
 
14.2  Any amendments shall only be included by consensus or a simple majority 

vote, prior to referral to the Constitution Committee and Council. 
 
January 2017  
Revised June 2019 

 
Definition 
 
Exempt Information 
Which is information falling within any of the descriptions set out in Part I of 
Schedule12A to the Local Government Act 1972 subject to the qualifications set out 
in Part II and the interpretation provisions set out in Part III of the said Schedule in 
each case read as if references therein to “the authority” were references to 
“CEHWB” or any of the partner organisations. 
 
Confidential Information 
Information furnished to, partner organisations or the CEHWB by a government 
department upon terms (however expressed) which forbid the disclosure of the 
information to the public; and information the disclosure of which to the public is 
prohibited by or under any enactment or by the order of a court are to be discussed. 
 
 



As approved by Council 17th May 2017   
H&WB Proposed changes June 2019  

 OFFICIAL 
7 

Conflict of Interest 
You have a Conflict of interest if the issue being discussed in the meeting affects 
you, your family or your close associates in the following ways; 

The issue affects their well being more than most other people who live in the area. 

The issue affect their finances or any regulatory functions and 

A reasonable member of the public with knowledge of the facts would believe it 
likely to harm or impair your ability to judge the public interest. 
 
Associate Members 
Associate Member status is appropriate for those who are requested to chair sub 
groups of the CEHWB.  
 
Health Services 
Means services that are provided as part of the health service. 
 
Health-Related Services means services that may have an effect on the health of 
individuals but are not health services or social care services. 
  
Social Care Services 
Means services that are provided in pursuance of the social services functions of 
local authorities (within the meaning of the Local Authority Social Services Act 1970 
 
Appendix 1 
 
 

CEHWB Member Code of Conduct 
 

1. Selflessness          

Members of the Cheshire East Health and Wellbeing CEHWB should act solely in terms 
of the interest of and benefit to the public/patients of Cheshire East. They should not do 
so in order to gain financial or other benefits for themselves, their family or their friends 
 

2. Integrity           

Members of the Cheshire East Health and Wellbeing CEHWB should not place 
themselves under any financial or other obligation to outside individuals or organisations 
that might seek to influence them in the performance of their duties and responsibilities 
as a CEHWB member 
 

3. Objectivity           

In carrying out their duties and responsibilities members of the Cheshire East Health and 
Wellbeing CEHWB should make choices based on merit and informed by a sound 
evidence base 
 

4. Accountability          

Members of the Cheshire East Health and Wellbeing CEHWB are accountable for their 
decisions and actions to the public/patients of Cheshire East and must submit 
themselves to whatever scrutiny is appropriate 
 



As approved by Council 17th May 2017   
H&WB Proposed changes June 2019  

 OFFICIAL 
8 

5. Openness           

Members of the Cheshire East Health and Wellbeing CEHWB should be as transparent 
as possible about all the decisions and actions that they take as part of or on behalf of 
the CEHWB. They should give reasons for their decisions and restrict information only 
when the wider public interest clearly demands 
 

6. Honesty           

Members of the Cheshire East Health and Wellbeing CEHWB have a duty to declare 
any private interests relating to their responsibilities and duties as CEHWB members 
and to take steps to resolve any conflicts arising in a way that protects the public interest 
and integrity of the Cheshire East Health and Wellbeing CEHWB 
 

7. Leadership          

Members of the Cheshire East Health and Wellbeing CEHWB should promote and 
support these principles by leadership and example 
 



OFFICIAL

Constitution Committee 

Date of Meeting:  15 July 2019

Report Title: Appointments to Outside Organisations 2019-2023

Senior Officer: Acting Chief Executive

1. Report Summary

1.1. The report invites the Committee to make appointments to the Category 2 
list of Outside Organisations.  These are appointments which have been 
allocated to the Constitution Committee to make.

1.2. Outside Organisations appointments made by the Council fall into 3 
categories as follows:

 Category 1 – appointed by the Cabinet; these are top level strategic 
organisations at national, regional and local level

 Category 2 – appointed by the Constitution Committee; these 
organisations tend to be of a more local nature

 Category 3 – statutorily these have to be made by full Council.

2. Recommendations

2.1. That

2.1.1. the Committee confirm it will to continue with the current approach to 
appointing to Outside Organisations, and for the casual vacancy 
procedure to be used in the event of changes in the mid-term period;

2.1.2. approval be given to the appointment of the representatives shown on 
the schedule attached to this report, and that the appointments run until 
such time as the Council’s representation is reviewed following the 
election of the new Council in 2023;

2.1.3. the appointments take immediate effect;  



OFFICIAL

2.1.4. notwithstanding 2.1.1 above, the Committee retains the right to review 
the representation on any Outside Organisation at any time, for any 
reason; and 

2.1.5. the Head of Democratic Services and Governance be authorised to  
accept any nominations to Outside Organisations that have not been 
received by the date of the Committee meeting.

3. Reasons for Recommendations

3.1. It is important for the Council to appoint members to Outside Organisations 
to ensure that it continues to represent the interests of both the Authority 
and the wider community.

3.2. Appointments are normally made for the duration of the Council, which is 
2019-2023, although it may sometimes be necessary or desirable for them 
to be reviewed during that time in order to take into account changes or 
vacancies that arise.

3.3. There is a casual vacancies procedure for dealing with changes or 
vacancies that arise from time to time and it will continue to be used for the 
small number that might occur during this period.

4. Other Options Considered

4.1. Not applicable.

5. Background

5.1. The Constitution Committee last made appointments to the list of Category 
2 Outside Organisations in July 2015 and members were appointed to 
serve until such time as representation was reviewed following the election 
of a new Council in 2019.  This has avoided there being a hiatus caused by 
representation ceasing in the period between the elections and the 
appointments being made.

5.2. By making appointments until such time as they are reviewed following the 
election of the new Council in 2023, this difficulty will again be avoided.

5.3. As a general rule the term of office should be commensurate with the 
needs of the organisation to which the member is appointed.  However, 
continuity of representation is also important and by appointing for the 
duration of the life of the Council it is ensured that their expertise and 
experience are not lost to the organisation.  This approach has worked well 
for the last four years.  The Committee will, however, want to retain the 
flexibility to review appointments at any time for any reason to ensure that 
the most appropriate member represents the Council.



OFFICIAL

5.4. There is a causal vacancies procedure for dealing with changes or 
vacancies that arise from time to time and it will continue to be used for the 
small number that might occur throughout the appointment period.

5.5. When making appointments to outside organisations there is no 
requirement to adopt the rules of proportionality applicable to the 
distribution of committee seats.

5.1. A report will be brought to a future meeting on the development of a 
mechanism for Members appointed to Outside Organisations to report back 
to the Council on the work of that Organisation, its relevance to the 
Council’s strategic objectives and, if applicable, remuneration received.

6. Implications of the Recommendations

6.1. Legal Implications

6.1.1. Whilst membership of Outside Organisations carries with it the 
potential for personal liability for elected Members undertaking such roles 
as ancillary to their status as a Councillor, particularly in respect of 
trusteeships, Cheshire East Borough Council has resolved to put in place 
for elected Members the maximum indemnity which is allowed by law.

6.1.2. Section 111 of the Local Government Act 1972 empowers local 
authorities to do anything which is calculated to facilitate, or is conducive 
or incidental to the discharge of any of their functions, and Section 2 of 
the Local Government Act 2000 empowers them to do anything they 
consider likely to achieve the object of the promotion of the economic, 
social or environmental well-being of their area.  In addition, there is now 
the general power of competence under the Localism Act 2011. These 
are the main provisions which the Council would rely on to appoint 
members to Outside Organisations or to select those bodies to which 
they are appointed.

6.2. Finance Implications

6.2.1. There are no financial implications identified.

6.3. Policy Implications

6.3.1. There are no direct policy implications.

6.4. Equality Implications

6.4.1. There are no direct equality implications.



OFFICIAL

6.5. Human Resources Implications

6.5.1. There are no direct human resources implications.

6.6. Risk Management Implications

6.6.1. The failure to appoint Members to outside organisations could have a 
direct or indirect impact on the organisations, which can be mitigated by 
the operations of a procedure for making timely appointments to ensure 
Council representation.

6.7. Rural Communities Implications

6.7.1. There are no direct implications for rural communities.

6.8. Implications for Children & Young People/Cared for Children 

6.8.1. There are no direct implications for children and young people.

6.9. Public Health Implications

6.9.1.1. There are no direct implications for public health.

6.10   Climate Change Implications

6.10.1      There are no implications for climate change.

7. Ward Members Affected

7.1. Not applicable.

8. Access to Information

8.1. There are no specific background documents relating to this report.

9. Contact Information

9.1. Any questions relating to this report should be directed to the following 
officer:

Name: Rachel Graves

Job Title: Democratic Services Officer

Email: rachel.graves@cheshireeast.gov.uk



OFFICIAL

Schedule of Category 2 Outside Organisations
Appointments made by Constitution Committee for 2019-2023

Organisation No. of Places Member(s) 2019-2023
Almshouse Charity of Sir Edmund Wright, 
Crewe and Others

1 Cllr P Butterill (Ind)

Alsager Educational Foundation 1 Cllr R Fletcher (LD)

Alsager Partnership 1 Cllr J Buckley (LD)

ASPE – Association for Public Service 
Excellence

2 Cllr JP Findlow (Con)
Cllr D Marren (non-grouped Ind)

Astbury Mere Trust 1 Cllr L Wardlaw (Con)

Audlem Education Foundation 2 Cllr R Bailey (Con)
Cllr J Clowes (Con)

Bent Farm Sand Quarry Liaison 
Committee

2 Cllr L Wardlaw (Con)
Cllr J Wray (Con)

Charitable Trust for the Assets of the 
Former Over Alderley Primary School

1 Cllr JP Findlow (Con)

Chelford Sand Quarry Liaison Group  
(aka Dingle Bank)

2 Cllr M Asquith (Con)
Cllr L Smetham (Con)

Cheshire Agricultural Society 1 Cllr M Houston (Lab)

Cheshire Association of Local Councils
Quality Accreditation Panel

1 Cllr A Moran (Ind)

Cheshire Association of Local Councils
Executive Committee

1 Cllr S Edgar (Con)



OFFICIAL

Cheshire Brine Subsidence 
Compensation Board

5 Cllr J Nicholas (Ind)
Cllr S Handley (Lab)
Cllr B Roberts (Lab)
Cllr M Simon (Con)
Cllr J Wray (Con)

CAB North 2 Cllr B Puddicombe (Lab)
Cllr J Rhodes (Lab)

Cheshire Local History Association 1 Cllr D Flude (Lab)

Crewe & Nantwich Twinning Association 
(CANTA) 

2 Cllr J Bratherton (Lab)
Cllr A Martin (Con)

Eaton Hall Sand Quarry Liaison Group 
Congleton (aka Tarmac & Eaton Parish)

1 Cllr L Smetham (Con)

Fence Trust, Macclesfield (merged with 
the Stanley and Brocklehurst 
Almshouses Trust)

1 Cllr S Carter (Lab)

Groundwork Cheshire Lancashire and 
Merseyside 

1 Cllr N Mannion (Lab)

Holmes Chapel Partnership 1 Cllr L Gilbert (Con)

King’s School, Macclesfield 3 Cllr A Gregory (Con)
Cllr D Edwardes (Ind)
Cllr L Roberts (Real Ind)

Linden Bank Community Liaison Group 1 Cllr L Crane (Lab)

Lindlow Educational Trust, Wilmslow 1 Cllr D Jefferay (Ind)

Macclesfield College of Further 
Education

1 Cllr N Mannion (Lab)



OFFICIAL

Malbank School Prize Fund and the 
Nantwich & Acton Grammar School 
Foundation

1 Cllr A Moran (Ind)

Maw Green Landfill Site Community 
Liaison Meeting

2 Cllr S Edgar (Con)
Cllr J Rhodes (Lab)

Mere Farm Quarry Liaison Committee 1 Cllr M Asquith (Con)

Nantwich Museum Trust 1 Cllr P Groves (Con)

Nantwich Partnership 2 Cllr P Groves (Con)
Cllr A Moran (Ind)

The Public Transport Consortium 3 Cllr R Fletcher (LD)
Cllr S Gardiner (Con)
Cllr S Hogben (Lab)

Reaseheath College, Nantwich 1 Cllr J Clowes (Con)

Sandbach Partnership 1 Cllr L Crane (Lab)

Sandbach School 1 Cllr K Flavell (Lab)

Sir John Deane’s College Foundation, 
Northwich

1 Cllr C Bulman (Lab)

Sir Thomas Delves Foundation, 
Wybunbury

2 Cllr J Clowes (Con)
Cllr P Groves (Con)

Standing Advisory Council on Religious 
Education (SACRE) 

3 Cllr A Gage (Con)
Cllr J Rhodes (Lab)
Cllr B Murphy (Real Ind)

Transport Futures 1 Cllr S Akers Smith (Ind)

University of Manchester – General 
Assembly

1 Cllr C Bulman (Lab)



OFFICIAL

White Moss Sand Quarry Alsager Local 
Liaison Group

1 Cllr R Fletcher (LD)
Cllr S Edgar (Con)**

Wybunbury United Charities 1 Cllr J Clowes (Con)

(** 2nd place requested for Haslington Ward Councillor –needs to be agreed by the Liaison Group. Could be non-voting 
representative)



Constitution Committee 

Date of Meeting:  15 July 2019

Report Title: Notice of Motion - Parental Leave Policy for Councillors 

Senior Officer: Brian Reed, Head of Democratic Services and Governance 

1. Report Summary
1.1.The purpose of this report is to consider and respond to the following motion 

which had been moved by Cllr Jill Rhodes and seconded by Cllr Joy 
Bratherton at the Council meeting on 21st February 2019 and referred to this 
Committee for consideration:

“This Council notes:

 That the role of a councillor should be open to all, regardless of their 
background, and that introducing a parental leave policy is a step 
towards encouraging a wider range of people to become councillors, 
and is also a step to encourage existing councillors who may want to 
start a family to remain as councillors;

 That parental leave must apply to parents regardless of their gender, 
and that it should also cover adoption leave to support those parents 
who choose to adopt.

This Council resolves: 

 To adopt the parental leave policy set out below.”

[The policy forming part of the motion is appended to this report.]

2. Recommendation

2.1. That the Committee note, and broadly endorse, the principles contained in 
the motion and consider the matter in greater detail at a future meeting as 
the review of the Council’s governance arrangements progresses.

3. Reasons for Recommendations

3.1. The reasons for the recommendation are set out in paragraph 5.3.



4. Other Options Considered

4.1. No other options have been considered.

5. Background

5.1. On 21st February 2019, a motion was submitted to Council which sought 
adoption of a model Parental Leave policy for Councillors, based on a 
policy drawn up by the LGA Labour Women’s Taskforce.     

5.2. In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, the motion was referred to 
the Constitution Committee for consideration.  

5.3. The issues raised in the motion are fundamentally interlinked with the 
project now being progressed by the Constitution Committee in respect of 
the governance arrangements of the Council (ie: the introduction of a 
committee system). It will also be necessary to consult the Independent 
Remuneration Panel on any policy proposals for parental leave for 
councillors once the Panel has been appointed. A report on the 
appointment of the Panel will be coming to the Committee’s September 
meeting. Therefore, it would not be appropriate to progress the motion in 
any detail at this stage until more work has been undertaken on the 
governance project. It is recommended, therefore, that the Committee note 
and endorse the principles of the motion with a view to a detailed report 
being submitted to a future meeting.

6. Implications of the Recommendations

6.1. Legal Implications

6.1.1. The policy adopted needs to comply with any relevant laws and 
regulations.    

6.2. Finance Implications

6.2.1. There are currently no direct implications in respect of Finance but this 
may change dependent on the outcome of further work.           

6.3. Policy Implications

6.3.1. The adoption of the policy would introduce a new policy to the Council  
and would change the support offered to elected Members.   

6.4. Equality Implications

6.4.1. The adoption of the policy would appear to provide similar rights to 
parental leave for elected Members as those afforded to Cheshire East 
staff.    



6.5. Human Resources Implications

6.5.1. There are currently no direct implications in respect of Human 
Resources but this may change dependent on the outcome of further 
work.   

6.6. Risk Management Implications

6.6.1. There are no direct implications in respect of risk management.    

6.7. Rural Communities Implications

6.7.1. There are no direct implications for rural communities.

6.8. Implications for Children & Young People/Cared for Children 

6.8.1. There are no direct implications for children and young people.

6.9. Public Health Implications

6.9.1. There are no direct implications for public health.

6.10. Climate Change Implications

6.10.1. There are no direct implications for climate change. 

7. Ward Members Affected

7.1. Not applicable.

8. Access to Information

8.1. Not applicable.

9. Contact Information

9.1. Any questions relating to this report should be directed to the following 
officer:

Name: Brian Reed  

Job Title: Head of Democratic Services and Governance   

Email: brian.reed@cheshireeast.gov.uk 

mailto:brian.reed@cheshireeast.gov.uk




OFFICIAL

APPENDIX

Parental Leave Policy for Cheshire East Council

Introduction
This Policy sets out Members’ entitlement to maternity, paternity, shared 
parental and adoption leave and relevant allowances.

The objective of the policy is to ensure that insofar as possible Members are 
able to take appropriate leave at the time of birth or adoption, that both 
parents are able to take leave, and that reasonable and adequate 
arrangements are in place to provide cover for portfolio-holders and others in 
receipt of Special Responsibility Allowances (SRA) during any period of leave 
taken.

Improved provision for new parents will contribute towards increasing the 
diversity of experience, age and background of local authority councillors. It 
will also assist with retaining experienced councillors – particularly women – 
and making public office more accessible to individuals who might otherwise 
feel excluded from it.

There is at present no legal right to parental leave of any kind for people in 
elected public office. 

1.  Leave Periods

1.1  Members giving birth are entitled to up to 6 months maternity leave from 
the due date, with the option to extend up to 52 weeks by agreement if 
required.

1.2  In addition, where the birth is premature, the Member is entitled to take 
leave during the period between the date of the birth and the due date in 
addition to the 6 months’ period. In such cases any leave taken to cover 
prematurity  of 28 days or less shall be deducted from any extension beyond 
the initial 6 months. 

1.3  In exceptional circumstances, and only in cases of prematurity of 29 days 
or more, additional leave may be taken by agreement, and such exceptional 
leave shall not be deducted from the total 52 week entitlement.

1.4  Members shall be entitled to take a minimum of 2 weeks paternity leave if 
they are the biological father or nominated carer of their partner/spouse 
following the birth of their child(ren). 

1.5  A Member who has made Shared Parental Leave arrangements through 
their employment is requested to advise the Council of these at the earliest 
possible opportunity. Every effort will be made to replicate such arrangements 
in terms of leave from Council.

1.6  Where both parents are Members leave may be shared up to a maximum 
of 24 weeks for the first six months and 26 weeks for any leave agreed 



OFFICIAL

thereafter, up to a maximum of 50 weeks. Special and exceptional 
arrangements may be made in cases of prematurity.

1.7  A Member who adopts a child through an approved adoption agency shall 
been titled to take up to six months adoption leave from the date of 
placement, with the option to extend up to 52 weeks by agreement if required.

1.8  Any Member who takes maternity, shared parental or adoption leave 
retains their legal duty under the Local Government Act 1972 to attend a 
meeting of the Council within a six month period unless the Council Meeting 
agrees to an extended leave of absence prior to the expiration of that six 
month period.

1.9  Any Member intending to take maternity, paternity, shared parental or 
adoption leave will be responsible for ensuring that they comply with the 
relevant notice requirements of the Council, both in terms of the point at which 
the leave starts and the point at which they return.

1.10  Any member taking leave should ensure that they respond to 
reasonable requests for information as promptly as possible, and that they 
keep officers and colleagues informed and updated in relation to intended 
dates of return and requests for extension of leave.

2.  Basic Allowance

2.1  All Members shall continue to receive their Basic Allowance in full whilst 
on maternity, paternity or adoption leave.

3.  Special Responsibility Allowances

3.1  Members entitled to a Special Responsibility Allowance shall continue to 
receive their allowance in full in the case of maternity, paternity, shared 
parental or adoption leave.

3.2  Where a replacement is appointed to cover the period of absence that 
person shall receive an SRA on a pro rata basis for the period of the 
temporary appointment.

3.3  The payment of Special Responsibility Allowances, whether to the 
primary SRA holder or a replacement, during a period of maternity, paternity, 
shared parental or adoption leave shall continue for a period of six months, or 
until the date of the next Annual Meeting of the Council, or until the date when 
the member taking leave is up for election (whichever is soonest). At such a 
point, the position will be reviewed, and will be subject to a possible extension 
for a further six month period.

3.4  Should a Member appointed to replace the member on maternity, 
paternity, shared parental or adoption leave already hold a remunerated 
position, the ordinary rules relating to payment of more than one Special 
Responsibility Allowances shall apply.



OFFICIAL

3.5  Unless the Member taking leave is removed from their post at an Annual 
General Meeting of the Council whilst on leave, or unless the Party to which 
they belong loses control of the Council during their leave period, they shall 
return at the end of their leave period to the same post, or to an alternative 
post with equivalent status and remuneration which they held before the leave 
began.

4.  Resigning from Office and Elections

4.1  If a Member decides not to return at the end of their maternity, paternity, 
shared parental or adoption leave they must notify the Council at the earliest 
possible opportunity. All allowances will cease from the effective resignation 
date. 

4.2  If an election is held during the Member’s maternity, paternity, shared 
parental or adoption leave and they are not re-elected, or decide not to stand 
for re-election, their basic allowance and SRA if appropriate will cease from 
the Monday after the election date when they would technically leave office.





Constitution Committee 

Date of Meeting:  15 July 2019

Report Title: Amendments to the Constitution – Changes to the Senior 
Management Structure 

Portfolio Holder: Councillor Jill Rhodes – Public Health and Corporate 

Senior Officer: Catherine Parkinson – Interim Director of Governance and 
Compliance 

1. Report Summary

1.1. To report amendments to the constitution by the Monitoring Officer under 
delegated powers to reflect recent changes to the senior management 
structure. The report is for the Committee’s information.

2. Recommendations

2.1. The Committee is recommended to note the amendments to the 
constitution by the Monitoring Officer under her delegated powers to reflect 
the recent changes to the Council’s senior management structure.

3. Reasons for Recommendations

3.1. The amendments to the constitution are required to reflect the recent 
changes to the senior management structure. The Monitoring Officer is 
required to report any such changes made under her delegated powers to 
the Constitution Committee for information.

4. Other Options Considered

4.1. The changes to the constitution are necessary and therefore no other 
options have been considered.



5. Background

5.1. Paragraph 67 of the scheme of officer delegation within the constitution 
provides that the Monitoring Officer may, in consultation with the Chairman 
and Vice-Chairman of the Constitution Committee, make such changes to 
the Council’s Constitution as he/she deems to be necessary and which are 
in the Council’s interests and not major in nature, including, but not limited 
to, changes to provide appropriate clarity, correct drafting errors and 
inconsistencies, and reflect new officer structures and job titles, properly 
approved through Council processes.

5.2. The Committee will be aware of the recent changes to the Council’s senior 
management structure. These have involved changes in some job titles, for 
instance the post of Chief Operating Officer has been replaced with a new 
post of Executive Director of Corporate Services and the post of Director of 
Legal Services has been replaced with the post of Director of Governance 
and Compliance. This has necessitated a review of the constitution to 
ensure that the job titles within the new senior management structure are 
reflected throughout the constitution as appropriate.

5.3. As part of this review, the opportunity has been taken to provide greater 
clarity and consistency around which officers are responsible for particular 
decision-making processes within the constitution. Throughout much of the 
constitution, reference is made to the Monitoring Officer, who is designated 
in the constitution as a ‘Chief Officer’. A relatively few references are made 
to the (now defunct) Director of Legal Services. As it appears that the two 
terms have been used interchangeably, all references are now to the 
Monitoring Officer for clarity and consistency. This is also in keeping with 
the officer scheme of delegation which is high level and delegates all officer 
decision-making powers to the Council’s Chief Officers (the Chief 
Executive, Executive Directors and Statutory Officers (Monitoring Officer 
and Section 151 Officer)).

5.4. The opportunity has also been taken to review the allocation of functions 
between the Executive Director of Corporate Services and the Section 151 
Officer. Both officers are designated as Chief Officers within the constitution 
and the two roles have separate and distinct responsibilities. However, it 
appears that in places the two terms may have been used interchangably. 
The Monitoring Officer has, in consultation with the Section 151 Officer, 
considered whether the correct job title has been applied in relation to 
particular functions and responsibilities, and where appropriate has made 
changes.

5.5. It is emphasised that these changes to the constitution are intended to 
bring it up to date, provide greater clarity and consistency on officer 
responsibilities, and correct any related drafting errors. The changes do not 



increase officer delegated powers; they merely clarify where responsibility 
for existing powers lies. The changes made by the Monitoring Officer under 
her delegated powers are reported to the Committee for information. The 
updated constitution will be published shortly and all members will be 
notified.

6. Implications of the Recommendations

6.1. Legal Implications

6.1.1. The Council must ensure that its constitution is legally compliant.

6.2. Finance Implications

6.2.1. There are no financial implications.

6.3. Policy Implications

6.3.1. There are no policy implications.

6.4. Equality Implications

6.4.1. There are no equality implications.

6.5. Human Resources Implications

6.5.1. There are no Human Resource implications.

6.6. Risk Management Implications

6.6.1. There are no risks associated with this recommendation.

6.7. Rural Communities Implications

6.7.1. There are no direct implications for rural communities.

6.8. Implications for Children & Young People/Cared for Children 

6.8.1. There are no direct implications for children and young people.

6.9. Public Health Implications

6.9.1. There are no direct implications for public health.

6.10. Climate Change Implications

6.10.1. There are no implications for climate change.

7. Ward Members Affected

7.1. Not applicable to any particular ward or wards.



8. Consultation & Engagement

8.1. The Monitoring Officer has consulted the Chairman and Vice-Chairman of 
the Constitution Committee as required under Paragraph 67 of the scheme 
of officer delegation.

9. Access to Information

9.1. The constitution is a public document accessible on the Council’s website.

10.Contact Information

10.1. Any questions relating to this report should be directed to the following 
officer:

Name: Catherine Parkinson

Job Title: Interim Director of Governance and Compliance

Email: Catherine.Parkinson@cheshireeast.gov.uk

mailto:Catherine.Parkinson@cheshireeast.gov.uk


OFFICIAL

Constitution Committee 

Date of Meeting:  15 July 2019

Report Title: Amendment to the Constitution – Investigation and Disciplinary 
Committee Terms of Reference

Senior Officer: Catherine Parkinson – Interim Director of Governance and 
Compliance 

1. Report Summary

1.1. Chapter 2, Part 5 of the Constitution, dealing with Functions of Committees, 
includes the Terms of Reference for the Investigation and Disciplinary 
Committee (“IDC”). 

1.2. The current Terms of Reference have been reviewed in line with the 
requirements set out in the Model Disciplinary Procedure and Guidance in 
the JNC Conditions of Service Handbook as well as learning points from 
recent IDC matters to improve the process.  A separate IDC Handbook has 
been produced which provides the detail on the process to be followed and 
which will be included as an associated document in the Constitution with a 
link provided for ease of reference.

1.3. Chapter 3, Part 6 of the Constitution, dealing with Employment Procedure 
Rules includes a section on Dismissal of Head of Paid Service and 
Statutory Chief Officers. This section is out of date and duplicates the 
process contained in the IDC Terms of Reference and Handbook. 

1.4. An amendment to the Constitution is required to include the revised IDC 
Terms of Reference and IDC Handbook and to replace the Employment 
Procedure Rules section on Dismissal of Statutory Officers with a link to the 
updated procedures.

2. Recommendation

2.1. To approve the amendments of the Constitution to include the revised 
Terms of Reference for the IDC as set out in Appendix A, the changes to 



OFFICIAL

the Employment Procedure Rules at Appendix B and a new IDC Handbook 
to be included as an associated document at Appendix C. Appendix D 
shows the changes between the current Terms of Reference in the 
Constitution and Appendix A.  

3. Reason for Recommendation

3.1.To remove any duplication and to ensure that the Council’s Constitution is 
kept up to date and that the Terms of Reference are:

3.1.1. compliant with current statutory and JNC guidance. Failure to update 
could increase risk of legal challenge from Statutory Officers involved in 
potential IDC matters;

3.1.2. efficient, fair and transparent; and
3.1.3. avoids incurring unnecessary costs and delay where possible.

3.2.To reduce the number of Members required for an IDC Committee from 
seven to five. This is in accordance with the JNC Model Disciplinary 
Procedure which recommends that the Committee comprises of five 
members.
   

3.3.Some of the detail of the IDC process has been removed from the 
Constitution and inserted and expanded upon in a separate IDC Handbook 
which now includes comprehensive guidance on each stage of the process to 
assist Officers and Members involved. 

4. Other Options Considered

4.1. Not applicable.

5. Background

5.1. A working group was set up in 2018 to review the IDC Terms of Reference 
in order to check compliance with current guidance and to factor in learning 
points arising from recent IDC matters, identifying any ‘gaps’ in the process 
and clarifying roles and responsibilities.

5.2. The amended Terms of Reference at Appendix A is the product of this 
review together with the detailed IDC Handbook at Appendix B which 
contains the comprehensive guidance notes on the process. The amended 
Employment Procedure Rules are included as Appendix C.

5.3. The Constitution now requires amending to reflect these changes to ensure 
that it is kept up to date.  



OFFICIAL

6. Implications of the Recommendations

6.1. Legal Implications

6.1.1. Section 37 of the Local Government Act 2000 and the guidance issued 
under it requires the Council to keep its Constitution up to date and 
regularly review it

6.1.2. The Constitution Committee may make any changes to the Constitution 
which are not major subject to the Monitoring Officer and s.151 Officer 
agreeing that the proposed changes are not major and to Council 
subsequently being informed of such changes. Changes that are 
considered by the Committee and agreed by the Monitoring Officer and 
s.151 Officer to be major shall be referred to Council for approval. 
(Constitution Chapter 2, Part 5, paragraph 98.4) 

6.1.3. The Council is required to consider the Model Disciplinary Procedure 
and Guidance set out in the JNC Conditions of Service Handbook.

6.2. Finance Implications

6.2.1. There are no specific Finance implications.

6.3. Policy Implications

6.3.1. There are no known Policy implications.

6.4. Equality Implications

6.4.1. There are no equality implications.

6.5. Human Resources Implications

6.5.1. There are no specific HR implications – the proposed changes do not 
fundamentally change the approach to disciplinary matters for DSO’s.

6.6. Risk Management Implications

6.6.1. There are no direct risk management implications

6.7. Rural Communities Implications

6.7.1. There are no direct implications for rural communities.

6.8. Implications for Children & Young People/Cared for Children 

6.8.1. There are no direct implications for children and young people.



OFFICIAL

6.9. Public Health Implications

6.9.1. There are no direct implications for public health.

6.10. Climate Change Implications

6.10.1. There are no climate change implications.

7. Ward Members Affected

7.1. None

8. Access to Information

8.1. Not applicable

9. Contact Information

9.1. Any questions relating to this report should be directed to the following 
officer:

Name: Catherine Parkinson

Job Title: Interim Director of Governance and Compliance

Email: Catherine.Parkinson@cheshireeast.gov.uk

mailto:Catherine.Parkinson@cheshireeast.gov.uk


OFFICIAL

Appendix A

Investigation and Disciplinary Committee (“IDC”) terms of reference.

Please refer to the IDC Handbook (link provided in Chapter 7, list of associated 
documents) for further information. 

Membership: 5 Members

53 The Committee shall be politically balanced, shall consist of 5 Members of the 
Council of which 1 member of the Committee may be a member of the Cabinet. 
Members of the Committee must have completed mandatory training. A quorum for 
the meeting shall be 3 Members.

Statement of Purpose and Functions

54 Members shall be appointed to the Committee, as and when a Committee is required 
to be convened, under the normal processes for making appointments to committees 
(via group leader/whip notification to the Head of Governance and Democratic 
Services). In accordance with the Model Disciplinary Procedure contained in the JNC 
Handbook for Chief Officers, IDC meetings shall be convened by the Monitoring 
Officer (in consultation with the Chair of Staffing Committee). Should the Monitoring 
Officer (MO) be unable to act, the Head of Paid Service or Deputy Monitoring Officer 
(DMO) can also convene the Committee in consultation with the Chair of Staffing 
Committee. Subsequent meetings of a convened IDC Committee will be convened by 
the IDC Co-Ordinator in conjunction with the Chair of the Committee.

55 The Monitoring Officer, or where the Monitoring Officer cannot act the Deputy 
Monitoring Officer  shall, in consultation with the Chair of the Staffing Committee and 
the Chair of any existing  IDC, filter out and deal with allegations of misconduct which 
are clearly unfounded, trivial or can best be dealt with under some other procedure. 
The MO/DMO will also consider whether informal resolution is appropriate. Once 
appointed as MO/DMO for a specific IDC matter, the same MO/DMO shall see the 
matter through unless a conflict of interest arises or the MO/DMO is unavoidably 
indisposed.

56 For consistency, unless unavoidably indisposed or conflicted, once appointed, the 
same Members shall comprise the Committee (and any adjournment of it) over the 
course of the full consideration of the matter (and any related matter) that it has been 
convened to consider, until such time as the matter is disposed of. Should any 
Member become conflicted or indisposed over the course of the matter, any 
substitution shall be at the Chair’s discretion in conjunction with the Committee’s 
legal adviser.

57 All papers issued to the Committee by the IDC Coordinator must be returned to the 
Coordinator (legal representative) or IDC Clerk at the end of each IDC meeting. 

58 If a matter passes the filter stage, the Committee will in conjunction with its legal 
adviser consider allegations/issues regarding disciplinary matters (as defined in The 
Local    Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) Regulations 2001 as amended) 
relating to the Designated Statutory Officers of the Council (the Head of Paid Service, 
the Monitoring Officer and the S.151 Officer) (the ‘DSOs’)

59 The Committee will in conjunction with its legal adviser decide:

59.1.1 Whether no further formal action under this procedure is required, 



OFFICIAL

59.1.2 To appoint an Independent Investigator  (“II”) to investigate the issue and to 
commission reports from an II; 

59.1.3 Whether it is appropriate to reach agreement with the DSO on a formal sanction 
(short of dismissal) without the need to appoint an II; 

59.1.4 Whether to suspend a DSO or to reconsider suspension and to review at a 
frequency to be determined by the Committee, any decisions taken to suspend a 
statutory officer. The Committee shall have the delegated power to suspend a 
DSO;

59.1.5 What action should be taken against a DSO following an investigation. This could 
include taking no further action, informal resolution or other appropriate 
procedures, disciplinary action short of dismissal or proposed dismissal. The 
Committee shall have delegated authority to impose disciplinary action short of 
dismissal in these circumstances

60 In the event that the Committee recommends dismissal then that recommendation 
shall be referred to the Independent Persons Panel prior to being referred to full 
Council for a determination in accordance with the IDC Handbook.

61 With the exception of a decision to recommend to full Council that a DSO be 
dismissed, there shall be a right of appeal to the Disciplinary Appeals Committee 
against any decisions made by the Committee to take disciplinary action against a 
DSO.



OFFICIAL

Disciplinary Appeals Committee

Membership: 5 Members

62 The Committee shall be politically balanced, shall consist of 5 Members of the 
Council of which 1 member of the Committee may be a member of the Cabinet.  No 
Member who was a member of the Investigation and Disciplinary Committee making 
the decision which is the subject of the appeal may be a member of the Disciplinary 
Appeals Committee. Members of the Committee must have completed mandatory 
training.

Statement of Purpose

63 Members shall be appointed to the Committee, as and when a Committee is required 
to be convened, under the normal processes for making appointments to committees 
(via group leader/whip notification to the Head of Governance and Democratic 
Services). For consistency, unless unavoidably indisposed or conflicted, once 
appointed, the same Members shall comprise the Committee (and any adjournment 
of it) over the course of the full consideration of the matter (and any related matter) 
that it has been convened to consider, until such time as the matter is disposed of.

64 To consider any appeals brought by the designated statutory officers of the Council 
(the Head of Paid Service, the Monitoring Officer or S151 Officer) (the ‘DSOs) 
against any decision made by the Investigation and Disciplinary Committee to take 
disciplinary action against a DSO short of dismissal.

65 In the event that the Investigation and Disciplinary Committee recommends 
dismissal, then that recommendation shall be referred to the Independent Persons 
Panel prior to being referred to full Council for a determination in accordance with the 
Staff Employment Procedure Rules and IDC Handbook.

Procedure for the Disciplinary Appeals Committee

66 The DSO shall have the right to attend and be accompanied at the Committee 
Meeting which considers the appeal by a trade union representative or work 
colleague of their choice.

67 The Committee shall consider the appeal in accordance with the Council’s normal 
procedure for dealing with appeals. 

Access to Information

68 The Council’s Access to Information Procedure Rules shall apply to meetings of the 
Committee.

Access to Advice and Representation

69 For the avoidance of doubt, the Committee may commission and have access to 
external legal and professional advice.

70 For the avoidance of doubt, if a DSO chooses to retain professional advice and/or 
representation at or in respect of any meeting of or hearing before the Committee, 
then the DSO in question shall be responsible for the cost of that advice or 
representation.



OFFICIAL

Independent Persons Panel

Statement of Purpose and Functions

71 The Independent Persons Panel is an advisory committee appointed by the authority 
under section 102(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 for the purposes of advising 
the authority on matters relating to the dismissal of the officers designated as the 
Head of Paid Service, the S.151 Officer and the Monitoring Officer (together the 
“Designated Statutory Officers” or “DSOs”) in accordance with Schedule 3 to The 
Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) Regulations 2001.

72 The Panel must comprise at least two of the Independent Persons appointed under 
section 28(7) of the Localism Act 2011 (to advise on Member conduct allegations) by 
the Council or, where there are fewer than two such persons, such independent 
persons as have been appointed by another authority or authorities as the Council 
considers appropriate.

73 It shall be for the Monitoring Officer or DMO to invite the Council’s current 
Independent Persons (being those persons appointed to advise on Member conduct 
complaints under the Localism Act 2011) and if necessary one or more of the 
Independent Persons of neighbouring authorities (following consultation with the 
Monitoring Officers of those authorities), to be considered for appointment to the 
Independent Persons Panel. It shall be for the Chair of the Audit and Governance 
Committee to confirm appointments to the Independent Persons Panel.

74 The Panel will be appointed from those Independent Persons who have accepted an 
invitation to be considered for appointment, in accordance with the following priority 
order:

 an Independent Person who has been appointed by the authority and who is a 
local government elector in the Council’s area

 any other Independent Person who has been appointed by the authority

 an Independent Person who has been appointed by another authority or 
authorities.

75 One or more reserve members will be appointed to the Panel from Independent 
Persons who have been appointed under section 28(7) of the Localism Act 2011 by 
the authority or by another authority or authorities.  A reserve member will take the 
place of any member of the Panel who is unable to act for the duration of the Panel 
meeting in question, or any adjournment of it.  If more than one reserve member is 
available for the meeting then selection will be by the alphabetical order of their 
surnames so long as it does not conflict with the priority order set out in paragraph 74 
above.

76 The appointment of a Panel Member to preside at the meeting will be the first item of 
business at each Independent Persons Panel meeting. Where there are equal votes 
cast at a meeting on any matter the Chair may exercise a second or casting vote.

77 The quorum for a meeting shall be three members of the Panel.

Terms of Reference

78 To advise the Council on matters relating to the dismissal of a DSO.



OFFICIAL

79 The advice of the Independent Persons Panel must be sought in accordance with the 
Staff Employment Procedure Rules and IDC Handbook where the Investigation and 
Disciplinary Committee propose to recommend the dismissal of a DSO.

80 The advice of the Independent Persons Panel may (but need not) be sought by the 
Investigation and Disciplinary Committee at any other point in an investigation under 
the IDC process or (if not conflicted) by the Disciplinary Appeals Committee.

81 For the avoidance of doubt, the Committee may commission and have access to 
external legal and professional advice.





Employment Procedure Rules

OFFICIAL
Chapter 3 – Part 612 February 2019 Page 283

Appendix B

Dismissal of Head of Paid Service, Statutory Chief Officers and Executive 
Director of Place

25 Dismissal of the Designated Statutory Officers of the Council (the Head 
of Paid Service, the Monitoring Officer and the S.151 Officer) (the 
‘DSOs’) will be dealt with in accordance with the Investigation and 
Disciplinary Committee Terms of Reference above in Chapter 2 – Part 5 
– Committees, together with the detailed guidance provided in the IDC 
Handbook which can be found here: [insert link] and which is included 
on the list of associated documents in Chapter 7. The requirements of 
the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) Regulations 2001 (as 
amended) and the Model Disciplinary Procedure and Guidance as set 
out in the JNC Conditions of Service Handbook have been followed in 
this regard.



Employment Procedure Rules

OFFICIAL
Chapter 3 – Part 612 February 2019 Page 284



Appendix C

IDC Handbook and guidance notes 

Procedure and guidance for Investigation and Disciplinary Committee 

Scope:

1. This Handbook will apply to any potential disciplinary allegation (as defined in 
The Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) Regulations 2001 as 
amended) raised against any of the designated Statutory Officers of the 
Council (the Head of Paid Service, the Monitoring Officer and the Section 151 
Officer) (the ‘DSOs’) in accordance with the Constitution.  Any allegations 
relating to performance or capability against a DSO will be dealt with under a 
separate policy and procedure in the first instance but will be referred to the 
IDC if there is a potential for dismissal of the DSO. Any grievances raised 
against a DSO will also be investigated under the Council’s grievance policy 
and procedure in the first instance.

Initial Filter Stage 

2. If an allegation of potential misconduct against a DSO is made, the Monitoring 
Officer (“MO”), or an appointed Deputy Monitoring Officer (“DMO”), will 
conduct a filter process of the allegations.

3. The MO/DMO will determine whether the allegations should be filtered out of 
the IDC process on the basis that they are clearly unfounded, trivial or can 
best be dealt with under some other procedure. 

4. The MO/DMO shall also consider whether early informal resolution of the 
issues with the DSO is appropriate, with the option of joint secretarial 
conciliation to avoid time-consuming and expensive formal IDC procedures.

5. If informal resolution is not appropriate, the MO/DMO will consider the 
evidence and (unless the matters are clearly unfounded or trivial) write to the 
DSO informing him or her of the allegations and asking for his or her 
representations. A meeting will normally be arranged by the MO/DMO with the 
DSO to discuss the allegations. 

6. Having considered the DSO’s views and evidence available, the MO/DMO will 
draft an initial filter report.

7. The draft filter report will be shared jointly with the Chair of the Staffing 
Committee and Leader, or Chair of the IDC if there is a standing committee. 



8. The MO/DMO will finalise the filter report and will take into consideration the 
views of the Chair of the IDC and Chair of the Staffing Committee. The filter 
decision is, however, an officer decision for the MO/DMO to determine.

9. If the MO/DMO decides that the allegations should be filtered out of the IDC 
process, this shall be the end of the IDC procedure and the DSO will be sent 
a letter informing him or her of the decision as soon as possible.

10. If the MO/DMO decides that the allegations should be put to the Committee, 
the filter report and evidence considered should be sent to the DSO at least 
three weeks before the Committee hearing to allow the DSO time to consider 
the allegations and to put forward his or her submissions at least seven 
working days before the hearing.

11. If the allegations relate to potential gross misconduct, the MO/DMO should 
ask the IDC to consider suspension of the DSO (see further below).

12.The definitions of misconduct and gross misconduct for the purpose of the 
IDC process shall be the same as the definitions applied in the Council’s 
disciplinary policy and procedure.

13.The IDC Co-Ordinator should notify the Joint Secretaries of the JNC when it is 
proposed to use the formal IDC procedure.

Matter proceeds to IDC process - Investigation Stage

14. It is in the interests of all parties that the proceedings be conducted 
expeditiously and fairly.

15. In the exercise of its function, the Committee is to receive and consider any 
allegations made. It may, in conjunction with its legal adviser and after 
consultation with its Committee members:

a. make such enquiries of the relevant officer or any other person as it 
considers appropriate

b. request additional information, explanations or documents from any 
person

c. invite or receive representations from any person
d. take such further steps as the Committee, in its reasonable opinion, 

decides is appropriate including suspension as further detailed below.

16.The Committee, in conjunction with its legal adviser and, having heard 
representations from the DSO or his or her adviser and the MO or where the 
MO cannot act the DMO,  shall decide whether the issues:



e. require no further formal action, or 
f. should be referred to an Independent Investigator (“II”) to investigate 

the issue, or
g. require such alternative action as the Committee, in its reasonable 

opinion and in consultation with the DSO’s line manager , decides is 
appropriate, including referral to other appropriate procedures or 
reaching agreement with the DSO on an appropriate formal sanction 
without the need to appoint an II. 

17. In considering whether the threshold in deciding to appoint an II has been met 
the Committee will assess whether:

h. if the allegations are proved it would be such as to lead to the dismissal 
or other action which would be recorded on the DSO’s personal file;

i. there is evidence in support of the allegation/issue sufficient to require 
further investigation.

18.Before deciding to appoint an II or suspend a DSO the Committee shall invite 
the representations of the DSO.  The DSO may prepare written submissions if 
he/she wishes which must be provided to the IDC Coordinator at least seven 
working days before the Committee Meeting. The DSO shall have the right to 
be accompanied at the Committee Meeting when called in to the meeting by a 
trade union representative or work colleague of their choice. The calling of 
witnesses at this stage is at the discretion of the Committee.

19.An II should only be formally appointed once the IDC has determined that 
there is a case that requires further investigation. However, to minimise 
delays in any potential investigation, steps should be taken by the Coordinator 
to identify a shortlist of three potential Independent Investigators from the list 
held by the JNC Joint Secretaries concurrently with arrangements for the 
initial meeting of the IDC. This is not pre-judging whether an investigator will 
be needed, but a practical step to assist in minimising any delays. 

Suspension:

20.Suspension will not always be appropriate as there may be alternative ways 
of managing risks during the course of the investigation. However, the 
Committee will need to consider whether it is appropriate to suspend the 
DSO. This may be necessary if an allegation is such that the continuing 
presence at work of the DSO might compromise the investigation or impair 
the efficient exercise of the Council’s functions.



21. It may also be necessary if an exceptional situation arises for the Head of 
Paid Service  in consultation  with the Leader, or Deputy Leader in 
consultation with the Monitoring Officer (if the DSO is the Head of Paid 
Service), to carry out a temporary suspension of the DSO pending the IDC 
Committee hearing to consider the matter. In such circumstances, the 
temporary suspension decision will be reviewed by the Committee at the IDC 
meeting.  

22.The Committee should seek the views of the DSO’s line manager in relation 
to any suspension review or decision, in conjunction with its legal adviser

23.The DSO should also be informed of the proposed suspension and have the 
right to present information before such a decision is taken.

24.The continuance of a suspension should be reviewed after it has been in 
place for two months. The Committee shall continue to review any continuing 
suspension at a frequency to be determined by the Committee, in conjunction 
with their legal adviser, taking into consideration the wellbeing of the DSO. 
For any suspension review the Head of HR will prepare a report for the 
Committee which should include a section of consultation with the DSO’s line 
manager.  In carrying out such review the Committee shall also consider any 
representations made by the DSO or his or her representative.

25.The Committee shall re-consider whether suspension is appropriate if 
requested to do so by the Monitoring Officer or where the Monitoring Officer is 
unable to act the Deputy Monitoring Officer, or in circumstances where the 
Chair thinks it appropriate. 

26.The view of the Head of Paid Service (or if the DSO is the Head of Paid 
Service, the Leader), should be taken into consideration by the Committee 
when considering or re-considering any suspension decisions.

27.Before suspending the DSO careful consideration should be given to whether 
it is necessary and whether there are any other suitable alternative ways of 
managing the situation, for example by agreeing particular working 
arrangements such as working from home or working in some other way that 
does not impact or interfere with the investigation and which protects the DSO 
and the Council from further allegations of a similar nature.

28. If the DSO is suspended, a Single Point of Contact (“SPOC”) and support 
officer (which can be the same person if agreed by the DSO) should be 
appointed for contacting the DSO.  



Appointment of Independent Investigator

29.The IDC Coordinator will obtain three CVs from the JNC ‘taxi rank’ of 
investigators and appropriate references. If these are acceptable, the three 
CVs will be sent to the DSO to select one of the names. 

30.The IDC Coordinator should consider the commissioning and procurement in 
line with the Council’s procurement rules. 

31.The only acceptable reason for the DSO not selecting from the names being 
supplied is a conflict of interest. If two of the names provided are conflicted, a 
new list of three CVs will be sent to the DSO. If only one of the names is 
conflicted, the DSO shall select one of the other two names provided. If an 
appointment is not agreed by the DSO within 14 calendar days of the names 
being supplied, the Committee Chair, in conjunction with its legal adviser and 
taking into consideration the views of the Head of Paid Service, will be at 
liberty to select an Investigator from the names supplied.

32.Terms of reference for the II are to be issued to the DSO for information only 
once agreed by the Committee in conjunction with its legal adviser.  Terms of 
reference should make clear the precise allegations or issues to be 
investigated and provide access to sources of information and potential 
witnesses and set out expectations on timescales for completion of the report. 
It is anticipated that the report should be produced within 2-3 months’ of 
sending the terms of reference to the II.

33.The II should share with the IDC Coordinator his/her proposed methodology 
for the investigation within 14 days of receiving the terms of reference. The II 
shall liaise with the IDC Coordinator in respect of any arrangements regarding 
the investigation.

34.Once completed, the II report should set out the Investigator’s opinion 
whether (and if so, the extent to which) the evidence he/she has obtained 
supports any allegation of misconduct or other issue under investigation and 
recommending any disciplinary action (if any is appropriate) or range of 
actions which appear to him/her to be appropriate for the Council to take 
against the DSO. 

Receiving the II’s Report 

35.The II should send a draft of his/her proposed report to the IDC Coordinator 
as soon as completed and within 12 weeks of the TofR being agreed or within 
alternative agreed timescales. The Coordinator shall consult with the Head of 



HR, proof read and make sure any and all statements are signed off together 
with any proposed suggestions/edits.
  

36.The Committee should receive the final report produced by an II in relation to 
a DSO within one month of the receipt of the report from the II by the IDC 
Coordinator. The report shall also be shared with the MO/DMO that filtered 
the matter.

53 The DSO shall be sent a copy of the report as soon as possible after it has 
been finalised and not less than four weeks before the intended meeting which 
considers the II’s report. The DSO shall have the right to attend and be 
accompanied by their representative (trade union representative or work 
colleague of their choice) at the Committee Meeting which considers the II’s 
report. The DSO shall submit any written representations or additional 
evidence he/she wishes the Committee to consider, to arrive with the Co-
Ordinator at least 8 working days before the intended meeting so that a final 
bundle for the meeting may be prepared.

54 Any relevant witnesses should be issued with their statement, documents that 
will be referred to in their evidence and a copy of the agenda.

55 Democratic  services to take responsibility for:

55.1 Preparing paginated final bundle for the hearing to be indexed and 
copied to all parties five working days  before the hearing

55.2 Arranging hearing dates based on all parties’ availability. (II; DSO; 
witnesses and members)

55.3 Ensuring all packs are collected back in after the hearing and passed 
to the IDC Coordinator.

The Hearing

56 The Committee shall consider the II’s report and shall invite representations 
from the DSO and/or his/her representative. 

57 Having considered all the evidence and heard from the DSO and relevant 
witnesses the Committee may:

57.1.1 Take no further action

57.1.2 Recommend informal resolution or other appropriate procedures

57.1.3 Refer back to the II for further investigation and report

57.1.4 Impose disciplinary action against the DSO short of dismissal

57.1.5 Propose dismissal of the DSO 



58   In conducting any hearing the Committee shall have regard to the model 
disciplinary procedure in the JNC handbook for Chief Executives and the 
ACAS Code of Practice.

Decision

59 The Committee should make its decision on the basis of the II report and 
evidence heard at the hearing. It is open to the Committee to impose a lesser 
or greater sanction than that recommended by the II.

60 Where the DSO is found to have no case to answer, appropriate 
communication should be prepared by IDC Chair; legal adviser; Council 
communications, Head of Paid Service and the DSO to ensure as far as 
possible that there is no damage to the DSO’s reputation.

61 Where the decision taken by the Committee is action short of dismissal, the 
action will be taken by the Committee itself, in conjunction with its legal 
adviser.  

62 In the case of any disciplinary action other than dismissal the DSO may appeal 
to the Disciplinary Appeals Committee against the decision within 10 working 
days of the decision. The Disciplinary Appeals Committee will consider the 
report of the II and any other relevant information considered by the 
Committee. This process will follow the procedure for appeals under the 
Council’s general disciplinary procedure. The DSO will be invited to an appeal 
hearing and the aim will be for it to take place no more than 30 working days 
following receipt of the DSO’s appeal.

63 The DSO will have the opportunity to appear at the appeal meeting and state 
his/her case. The DSO will have the right to be accompanied to the meeting by 
a trade union representative or work colleague of their choice. The decision of 
the Appeals Committee will be final. 

64 If the Committee decides that the DSO shall be dismissed the Committee shall 
inform the Head of HR that it is proposing to dismiss the DSO and that the 
executive objections procedure should commence.  The Head of HR shall give 
all members of the Cabinet the opportunity to raise any objections prior to the 
decision, providing them with: 

 a summary of the allegations;
 a summary of the II’s report and recommendations;
 a summary of any representations from the DSO;  and
 the timescale during which any material and well-founded objections 

should be made. 



In order for an objection to be considered material and well founded, the 
objection would need to be not only based on evidence (well-founded) but 
must also be relevant to the case (material). The Committee will consider at a 
reconvened committee meeting any objections and satisfy itself as to whether 
any of the objections are both material and well founded, in conjunction with its 
legal adviser. If they are then the Committee will consider the impact of the 
objections on its proposal for dismissal. Having satisfied itself that there are no 
material or well-founded objections to the proposal to dismiss, the Committee 
will inform the DSO of the decision and the proposal for dismissal will be put to 
the Independent Persons Panel for consideration along with the II report and 
any other necessary material. 

65 The Committee Chair, the Committee’s legal adviser and the DSO (or his or 
her representative) should be present at the meeting of the Independent 
Panel. The DSO will have the opportunity to make representations and the 
Committee Chair (or its representative) will have the chance to respond. The 
Independent Panel will review the decision and prepare a report for full 
Council. This report should contain a clear rationale if the Panel disagrees with 
the recommendation to dismiss. The Independent Panel must be appointed at 
least 20 days before the meeting of Full Council at which the recommendation 
for dismissal is to be considered. Appropriate training will be given.

66 A meeting of Full Council will consider under Part 2 of the meeting the 
proposal that a DSO should be dismissed and must take into account:

66.1.1 Any advice, views or recommendations of the Independent Panel

66.1.2  a summary of the allegations;

66.1.3 a summary of the II’s report and recommendations; and

66.1.4 a summary of any representations of the DSO

67 The DSO will have the opportunity to appear before Full Council and put 
his/her case before a decision is taken. The DSO will have the right to be 
accompanied to this hearing by a trade union representative or work colleague 
of their choice.  

68 Full Council must approve the dismissal before notice of dismissal is issued. 
Given the independent investigation that has already been carried out in 
respect of the allegations, it will not be appropriate for Full Council to 
undertake a full re-hearing of the case. Instead, consideration by the Council 
will take the form of consideration of a summary of the case and the proposal 
to dismiss and any advice, views or recommendations of the Independent 
Panel. 



69 Full Council may reject the proposal to dismiss. If so, it must give reasons and 
the matter will then be referred back to the Committee to determine the 
sanction and the above procedures will be repeated again.

70 The hearing by Full Council will also fulfil the appeal function for the DSO’s 
appeal against dismissal. 

Power to agree financial settlements

71 It is possible at any stage to consider the mutual termination of the contract of 
employment of the DSO. 

72 The Head of Paid Service (or Deputy if the DSO is the Head of Paid Service) 
shall have authority to agree a formal settlement agreement with the DSO 
subject to and in accordance with the terms of the Constitution. The Head of 
Paid Service (or Deputy) shall inform the Committee once a decision on any 
formal settlement has been reached.

Grievances raised by DSO during disciplinary proceedings

73 Where a DSO raises a grievance relating to his or her disciplinary case, the 
Committee will decide how to deal with the grievance. This will depend on the 
facts of the case, the stage of the IDC process reached and the nature of the 
grievance raised. In some cases it may be appropriate to hear the grievance 
before continuing with the IDC process. In other cases it will be appropriate to 
deal with the issues raised in the grievance as part of the IDC process itself.

Access to Information

74 The Council’s Access to Information Procedure Rules shall apply to meetings 
of the Committee.

Access to Advice and Representation

75 For the avoidance of doubt, the Committee will commission and have access 
to external legal advice.

76 For the avoidance of doubt, if a DSO chooses to retain professional advice 
and/or representation at or in respect of any meeting of or hearing before the 
Committee, then the DSO in question shall be responsible for the cost of that 
advice or representation.





Committee
s 

OFFICIAL 

Chapter 2 – Part 
5 

12 February 
2019 

Page 
59 

 

OFFICIAL 

 
 
Appendix D 
 

Investigation and Disciplinary Committee (“IDC”) terms of reference. 

Please refer to the IDC Handbook (link provided in Chapter 7, list of associated 
documents) for further information.  

Membership: 75 Members 

53 The Committee shall be politically balanced, shall consist of 75 Members 

53  of the Council and at leastof which 1 member of the committee 
shallCommittee may be a member of the Cabinet. Members of the 
committeeCommittee must have completed mandatory training. A quorum 
for the meeting shall be 3 Members. 

 

Statement of Purpose and Functions 

 

54 Members shall be appointed to the committeeCommittee, as and when a 
committeeCommittee is required to be convened, under the normal 
processes for making appointments to committees (via group leader/whip 
notification to the Head of Governance and Democratic Services and 
Governance). In accordance with the Model Disciplinary Procedure 
contained in the JNC Handbook for Chief ExecutivesOfficers, IDC meetings 
shall be convened by the Monitoring Officer (in consultation with the 
ChairmanChair of Staffing Committee) who will, ). Should the Monitoring 
Officer (MO) be unable to act, the Head of Paid Service or Deputy 
Monitoring Officer (DMO) can also convene the Committee in consultation 
with the ChairmanChair of the Staffing Committee and the Chairman of the. 
Subsequent meetings of a convened IDC, filter out and deal Committee will 
be convened by the IDC Co-Ordinator in conjunction with allegations which 
are clearly unfounded, trivial or can best be dealt with under some other 
procedurethe Chair of the Committee. 

 

55 The Monitoring Officer, or where the Monitoring Officer cannot act the 
Deputy Monitoring Officer  shall, in consultation with the Chair of the 
Staffing Committee and the Chair of any existing  IDC, filter out and deal 
with allegations of misconduct which are clearly unfounded, trivial or can 
best be dealt with under some other procedure. The MO/DMO will also 
consider whether informal resolution is appropriate. Once appointed as 
MO/DMO for a specific IDC matter, the same MO/DMO shall see the matter 
through unless a conflict of interest arises or the MO/DMO is unavoidably 
indisposed. 

5556 For consistency, unless unavoidably indisposed or conflicted, once 
appointed, the same Members shall comprise the committeeCommittee 
(and any adjournment of it) over the course of the full consideration of the 
matter (and any related matter) that it has been convened to consider, until 
such time as the matter is disposed of. Should any Member become 



Committee
s 

OFFICIAL 

Chapter 2 – Part 
5 

12 February 
2019 

Page 
60 

 

OFFICIAL 

conflicted or indisposed over the course of the matter, any substitution shall 
be at the Chair’s discretion in conjunction with the Committee’s legal 
adviser. 

 

57 ToAll papers issued to the Committee by the IDC Coordinator must be 
returned to the Coordinator (legal representative) or IDC Clerk at the end of 
each IDC meeting.   

5658 If a matter passes the filter stage, the Committee will in conjunction with its 
legal adviser consider allegations/issues regarding disciplinary matters (as 
defined in The Local    Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) Regulations 
2001 as amended) relating to the designatedDesignated Statutory Officers 
of the Council (the Head of Paid Service, the Monitoring Officer and the 
Chief FinanceS.151 Officer) (the ‘DSOs’) and to authorise initial 
investigation. 

 

59 The Committee will in conjunction with its legal adviser decide: 

59.1.1 Whether no further formal action under this procedure is required,  

5759.1.2 To appoint an Independent Investigator  (“II”) to investigate 
allegations of misconduct against any DSO the issue and to 
commission reports from an II.;  

 

58 To determine appropriate action upon receipt of any preliminary 
investigation. 

 

59.1.3 To decide whetherWhether it is appropriate to reach agreement with 
the DSO on a formal sanction (short of dismissal) without the need to 
appoint an II;  

 

5959.1.4 Whether to suspend a DSO or to reconsider suspension and to 
review at a frequency to be determined by the Committee, any 
decisions taken to suspend a statutory officer. The Committee shall 
have the delegated power to suspend a DSO; 

 

6059.1.5 To determine whatWhat action should be taken against a DSO 
following an investigation. This could include taking no further action, 
informal resolution or other appropriate procedures, disciplinary action 
short of dismissal or proposed dismissal. The Committee shall have 
delegated authority to impose disciplinary action short of dismissal or 
dismissal.in these circumstances 

 

6160 In the event that the Committee recommends dismissal then that 
recommendation shall be referred to the Independent Persons Panel prior 
to being referred to full Council for a determination in accordance with the 
Staff Employment Procedure RulesIDC Handbook. 



Committee
s 

OFFICIAL 

Chapter 2 – Part 
5 

12 February 
2019 

Page 
61 

 

OFFICIAL 

 
 

6261 With the exception of a decision to recommend to full Council that a DSO 
be dismissed, there shall be a right of appeal to the Disciplinary Appeals 
Committee against any decisions made by the Committee to take 
disciplinary action against a DSO. 

 

Procedure for Investigation and Disciplinary Committee 
 

Investigation 

 

63 It is in the interests of all parties that the proceedings be conducted 
expeditiously and fairly. 

 

64 In the exercise of its function, the Committee is to receive and consider 
any complaint/allegations made. It may: 

 

64.1 make such enquiries of the relevant officer or any other person as 
it considers appropriate 

 

64.2 request additional information, explanations or documents from 
any person 

 

64.3 invite or receive representations from any person. 
 

65 The Committee having carried out such steps as it considers appropriate 
and having heard representations from the DSO or his or her adviser 
shall decide whether the issues: 

 

65.1 require no further formal action, or 
 

65.2 should be referred to an II 
 

66 In considering whether the threshold in deciding to appoint an II has 
been met the Committee will assess whether: 

 

66.1 if the allegations are proved it would be such as to lead to the 
dismissal or other action which would be recorded on the DSO’s 
personal file 

 

66.2 there is evidence in support of the allegation/issue sufficient to 
require further investigation. 

 

67 In deciding whether the threshold for the appointment of an II has been 
reached the Committee may carry out such preliminary investigations as 
it considers appropriate or necessary or authorise officers to do so. This 
shall be solely for the purpose of establishing whether or not the 
threshold for appointing an II to carry out an investigation has been met. 

 

68 Before deciding to appoint an II or suspend a DSO the Committee shall 
invite the representations of the DSO unless it is impracticable to do so. 
The DSO shall have the right to be accompanied at the Committee 
Meeting. 



Committee
s 

OFFICIAL 

Chapter 2 – Part 
5 

12 February 
2019 

Page 
62 

 

OFFICIAL 

 
 

 Rece iving t h e  I I’s  Re po rt/  He a rin g  

 

69 The Committee should receive any report produced by an II in relation to 
a DSO within one month of the receipt of the report by the Council. 

 

70 The DSO shall have the right to attend and be accompanied at the 
Committee Meeting which considers the II’s report. 

 

71 The Committee shall consider the II’s report and shall invite 
representations from the DSO and/or his/her representative. The 
Committee may impose disciplinary sanctions as set out in the Council’s 
disciplinary procedures, the JNC Terms and Conditions Handbook for 
Chief Officers and the JNC Terms and Conditions Handbook for Chief 
Executives. In conducting any hearing the Committee shall have regard 
to the model disciplinary procedure in the JNC handbook for Chief 
Executives. 

 

Decision 

 

72 If the Committee decides that the DSO shall be dismissed the Full 
Council shall consider the Committee’s recommendation of dismissal. 
Prior to consideration by Full Council the Independent Persons Panel 
shall consider the matter and the Proper Officer shall give all members 
of the Cabinet the opportunity to raise any objections prior to the 
decision. This process is governed by the Staff Employment Procedure 
Rules set out in this Constitution. [Note the Independent Persons Panel 
may meet concurrently with the Investigation and Disciplinary 
Committee] 

 

In the case of any disciplinary action other than dismissal the DSO may appeal 
to the   



Committee
s 

OFFICIAL 

Chapter 2 – Part 
5 

12 February 
2019 

Page 
63 

 

OFFICIAL 

73 Disciplinary Appeals Committee against the decision. 

 
Suspension 

 

74 If a DSO has been suspended for a period of 2 months (or in the case of 
a decision to suspend taken under urgency provisions) then the 
Committee shall review that suspension. The Committee shall continue 
to review any continuing suspension every 2 months. In carrying out 
such review the Committee shall consider any representations made by 
the II and the DSO and/or his or her representative. 

 

Access to Information 

 

75 The Council’s Access to Information Procedure Rules shall apply to 
meetings of the Committee. 

 

Access to Advice and Representation 

 

7653 For the avoidance of doubt, the Committee may commission and have 
access to external legal and professional advice. 



Committee
s 

OFFICIAL 

Chapter 2 – Part 
5 

12 February 
2019 

Page 
64 

 

OFFICIAL 

 
 

7753 For the avoidance of doubt, if a DSO chooses to retain professional advice 
and/or representation at or in respect of any meeting of or hearing before 
the Committee, then the DSO in question shall be responsible for the cost 
of that advice or representation. 



Committee
s 

OFFICIAL 

Chapter 2 – Part 
5 

12 February 
2019 

Page 
65 

 

OFFICIAL 

 
 

Disciplinary Appeals Committee Membership: 75 Members 

78 The Committee shall be politically balanced, shall consist of 75 Members 

62  of the Council at leastof which 1 member of the committee shallCommittee 
may be a member of the Cabinet.  No Member who was a member of the 
Investigation and Disciplinary Committee making the decision which is the 
subject of the appeal may be a member of the Disciplinary Appeals 
Committee. Members of the committeeCommittee must have completed 
mandatory training. 

 

Statement of Purpose 

 

7963 Members shall be appointed to the committeeCommittee, as and when a 
committeeCommittee is required to be convened, under the normal 
processes for making appointments to committees (via group leader/whip 
notification to the Head of Governance and Democratic Services and 
Governance). For consistency, unless unavoidably indisposed or conflicted, 
once appointed, the same Members shall comprise the 
committeeCommittee (and any adjournment of it) over the course of the full 
consideration of the matter (and any related matter) that it has been 
convened to consider, until such time as the matter is disposed of.  

 

8064 To consider any appeals brought by the designated statutory officers of the 
Council (the Head of Paid Service, the Monitoring Officer or Chief Finance 
Officer/S151 Officer) (the ‘DSOs) against any decision made by the 
Investigation and Disciplinary Committee to take disciplinary action against 
a DSO short of dismissal. 

 

8165 In the event that the Investigation and Disciplinary Committee recommends 
dismissal, then that recommendation shall be referred to the Independent 
Persons Panel prior to being referred to full Council for a determination in 
accordance with the Staff Employment Procedure Rules and IDC 
Handbook. 

 

Procedure for the Disciplinary Appeals Committee 

 

8266 The DSO shall have the right to attend and be accompanied at the 
Committee Meeting which considers the appeal by a trade union 
representative or work colleague of their choice. 

 

8367 The Committee shall consider the appeal in accordance with the Council’s 
normal procedure for dealing with appeals.  

 

Access to Information 
 

Access to Information 



Committee
s 

OFFICIAL 

Chapter 2 – Part 
5 

12 February 
2019 

Page 
66 

 

OFFICIAL 

8468 The Council’s Access to Information Procedure Rules shall apply to 
meetings of the Committee. 

Access to Advice and Representation 

69 For the avoidance of doubt, the Committee may commission and have 
access to external legal and professional advice. 

70 For the avoidance of doubt, if a DSO chooses to retain professional advice 
and/or representation at or in respect of any meeting of or hearing before 
the Committee, then the DSO in question shall be responsible for the cost 
of that advice or representation. 

 

Access to Advice and Representation 
 

8553 For the avoidance of doubt, the Committee may commission and have 
access to external legal and professional advice. 

 

86 For the avoidance of doubt, if a DSO chooses to retain professional 
advice and/or representation at or in respect of any meeting of or 



Committee
s 

OFFICIAL 

Chapter 2 – Part 
5 

12 February 
2019 

Page 
67 

 

OFFICIAL 

 
 

hearing before the Committee, then the DSO in question shall be 
responsible for the cost of that advice or representation. 



Committee
s 

OFFICIAL 

Chapter 2 – Part 
5 

12 February 
2019 

Page 
68 

 

OFFICIAL 

 
 

  



Committee
s 

OFFICIAL 

Chapter 2 – Part 
5 

12 February 
2019 

Page 
69 

 

OFFICIAL 

Independent Persons Panel 

 

Statement of Purpose and Functions 

 

8771 The Independent Persons Panel is an advisory committee appointed by the 
authority under section 102(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 for the 
purposes of advising the authority on matters relating to the dismissal of 
the officers designated as the Head of Paid Service, the Chief 
FinanceS.151 Officer and the Monitoring Officer (together the “Designated 
Statutory Officers” or “DSOs”) in accordance with Schedule 3 to The Local 
Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) Regulations 2001. 

 

8872 The Panel must be convened having invitedcomprise at least two of the 
Independent Persons appointed under section 28(7) of the Localism Act 
2011 (to advise on Member conduct allegations) by the Council or, where 
there are fewer than two such persons, such independent persons as have 
been appointed by another authority or authorities as the Council considers 
appropriate. 

 

8973 It shall be for the Monitoring Officer or DMO to invite the Council’s current 
Independent Persons (being those persons appointed to advise on Member 
conduct complaints under the Localism Act 2011) and if necessary one or 
more of the Independent Persons of neighbouring authorities (following 
consultation with the Monitoring Officers of those authorities), to be 
considered for appointment to the Independent Persons Panel. [It shall be 
for the ConstitutionChair of the Audit and Governance Committee to 
confirm appointments to the Independent Persons Panel.]. 

 

9074 The Panel will be appointed from those Independent Persons who have 
accepted an invitation to be considered for appointment, in accordance with 
the following priority order: 

 

 an Independent Person who has been appointed by the authority and 
who is a local government elector in the Council’s area 

 

 any other Independent Person who has been appointed by the 
authority 

 

 an Independent Person who has been appointed by another authority 
or authorities. 



 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

9175 One or more reserve members will be appointed to the Panel from Independent Persons who 
have been appointed under section 28(7) of the Localism Act 2011 by the authority or by 
another authority or authorities.  A reserve member will take the place of any member of the 
Panel who is unable to act for the duration of the Panel meeting in question, or any 
adjournment of it.  If more than one reserve member is available for the meeting then 
selection will be by the alphabetical order of their surnames so long as it does not conflict 
with the priority order set out in paragraph 9074 above. 

 

9276 The appointment of a Panel Member to preside at the meeting will be the first item of 
business at each Independent Persons Panel meeting. Where there are equal votes cast at a 
meeting on any matter the ChairmanChair may exercise a second or casting vote. 

 

9377 The quorum for a meeting shall be twothree members of the Panel. 

 

Terms of Reference 

 

9478 To advise the Council on matters relating to the dismissal of a DSO. 

 

9579 The advice of the Independent Persons Panel must be sought in accordance with the Staff 
Employment Procedure Rules and IDC Handbook where the Investigation and Disciplinary 
Committee propose to recommend the dismissal of a DSO. 

 

9680 The advice of the Independent Persons Panel may (but need not) be sought by the 
Investigation and Disciplinary Committee at any other point in an investigation of 
disciplinaryunder the IDC process or (if not conflicted) by the Disciplinary Appeals 
Committee. 

 

81 For the avoidance of doubt, the Committee may commission and have access to external 
legal and professional advice.For the avoidance of doubt, the Committee may commission 
and have access to external legal and professional advice. 

 

97  


	Agenda
	5 Minutes of Previous meeting
	6 The Council's Governance Arrangements
	Governance Arrangements - appendix

	7 Health and Wellbeing Board - Proposed Revisions to the Terms of Reference
	HWB Terms of Reference - appendix

	8 Appointments to Outside Organisations 2019-2023
	Appointments to Outside Organisations - appendix

	9 Notice of Motion - Parental Leave Policy for Councillors
	NOM - Parental Leave - appendix

	10 Amendments to the Constitution - Changes to the Senior Management Structure
	11 Amendment to the Constitution - Investigation and Disciplinary Committee Terms of Reference
	IDC Terms of Reference - app A
	IDC Terms of Reference - app B
	IDC Terms of Reference - app C
	IDC Terms of Reference - app D


